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it INTRODUCTION.

EW persons, reading any ordinary history, appreciate the amount of research necessary
to obtain ample and accurate information on the subjects treated. This labor is
enhanced when the value of the history depends upon the minuteness with which

"% the events mnarrated are recorded. ‘T'he history of an age or a country may be

written in a broad, gemeral way, in which the lcading events stand out in large

i perspective, while the minor details are omitted or only introduced in a cursory

H manner. But the value of the history of a country consists largely in the extent

% and minuteness of the deteils furnished, and to obtain and verify these involves a
vast amount of painstaking iavestigation,

In the present instance the difficulty of obtaining complete records is increased by the fact
that no published book exists which might serve as a starting point.  The only works extart
of any use in-describing the FEastern Townships, are those of Joseph Bouchette, Surveyor-
General of Lower Canada for thirty years, published in 1815 and 1831, and Mrs. Day’s
‘ History of the Eastern Townships,” published in 1869. I have availed myself of only
a few extracts from these, principally in the Township histories. Nearly all the information
has been gathered from old settlers, old newspapers, government reports, municipal records, and
written accounts left by some of the pioneers.

The aim has been not to write a romance, but simply to give the facts as they have been
found, after months of research and study. Fvery item of interest that could be learned con-
cerning the County of Compton has been traced out and, so far as verified, here recorded.

The utmost pains have been taken to verify and accurately present all statements,
biographical and historical. A cony of every biography has been submitted to each family for
correction, before being printed, and 1 believe they are in every case correct as to dates and
particulars. In the biographies the date of birth of the sons precede that of the daughters.

It is not, however, merely as a register of family history or local events that the present
work is undertaken, but in the hope that it may also have a possible future usefulness as a
coutribution to the sources from which the history of the Dominion must be drawn, whenever
in the twentieth century an exhaustive history of Canada comes to be written by some future
Parkman, the materials for it will come from such volumes as the present, preserving records
of a fugitive character which would else have been lost.

In searching for information I have met with courtesy and assistance on every side. Where
all have been so kind, to make individual acknowledgment in this place would be impossible ;
but special mention is due Mr. J. A. Chicoyne, M.L.A., of Sherbrooke; Mr. Wm. Sawyer,
ex-M.L.A., of Sawyerville; Mr. E. S. Orr, of Cookshire, and the Secretary-Treasurers of the
several municipalities.

I. S. CHANNELL.

CooksHIRE, April 30, 1896.
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HISTORY OF COMPTON COUNTY.

CHAPTER L

Tur EasterN TowNsHirs
Origin of Name ~I'he Townships So-called-—When First Settled Their Advantages.

HAT portion of the Province of Quebec with which we deal in this chapter, and of which

Compton County forms a part, is called “The Eastern Townships.” Many reasons for

this special designation have been assigned by different writers, but when and how the
name was first given is clouded in obscurity. Omne writer says it had its origin in ‘the
fact of its having been laid out in territorial subdivisions of townships, to the eas/ of the
seigniories, which had been granted to French subjects by their monarch, before Canada
had been wrested by the British arms from the grasp of La Beile France,” in 1759. These
townships, however, are not only east, but also south of the seigniories, and are the only townships
in Lower Canada. The term ‘ Eastern,” therefore, on this theory, does not scem specially
appropriate as distinguishing them from seigniories lying around them in the same province.

Another version, in which we are inclined to place more faith, is that these townships, being
in Eastern Canada, are so called by contrast with those in Western Canada or Ontario. At the
close of the Revolutionary War, in 1782, many thousand United Empire Loyalists were offered
lands in Canada by the British Government. The offer was eagerly accepted, and from
twenty-five to thirty thousand settled in the townships of Ontario. At the same time a few
hundred families came to the townships of Fastern Canada. Their relatives and friends in
Ontario and those who remained in the United States, acquired the habit of distinguishing
the different settlements by calling these the Eastern Townships. As to how the name was
acquired may be a subject of discussion, but it has so attached itself to this district of Quebec,
that it is as well known throughout the world as though it was a separate province.

All that portion of Quebec which lies south of the River St. Lawrence, and was unconceded
at the time of the Conquest, is classed as the FEastern Townships. During the French
occupation and for at least ten years subsequent thereto, it was a vast wilderness covered
with forest and untrodden by any but the wild man. The British Government, in maintaining
the French laws, did not adopt the French system of settlement. They preferred their own
Colonial system, and this unconceded part of the Province was laid out in the same manner
as the lands of Ontario (Upper Canada), in townships, after the mode! of the New England
Colonies. The genius of the two nations, widely differing in so many respects, differed
materially in their Colonial systems. The French idea was to transplant the old country
into the new, to reproduce France, with all its gradations of society, its religion, its laws,
and feudal tenure, and to centralize power in the hands of thc Governor and of those
delegated by the Sovereign to represent him in the New France of the New World. Part
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of the strength, and all the weakness of the French »/¢/me in Canada arose from this system
The central power could always command the services of the entire population, when needed
for any enterprise of defence or attack,—but the people, tied down to a rigid system of central
responsibility, could not expand as did the FEnglish colonists. In the French case, the
government was powerful, the people weak; whereas the exact opposite was the result of
the Eunglish system, the government, or governments (for there were many), being weak,
and the people strong.

The nature of the country forming the Eastern Townships differs greatly from the French
country. Instead of great plains, we find hills and fertile valleys, traversed by mountain
ranges, and intersected by numberless rivers and water courses, taking their rise in picturesque
lakes. Thus, in addition to its fertile chaiacter, the Fastern Townships is a country famous
for its scenery, a country retaining its green hue until late in the autumn, a continuation
northwards of that green-mountain country to which the State of Vermont owes its name.
In point of beauty it is not surpassed by any part of the American Continent, if beauty
consists in the combination of the picturesque with adaptability to the wants of life.  Many
districts may be more grand, but grandeur alone is mwercly one of the elements of perfect
beauty.

We find by reports of a special committee, published in 1851, which had been appointed
by the Provincial Parliament, to enquire into causes retarding the settlement of the Kastern
Townships, that they consider these townships as composed within the counties known at that
time as Sherbrooke, Stanstead, Shefford, Missisquoi, Drummond, and Megantic, making 4,886,400
square acres, with a population, in 1848, that did not exceed 69,168. At the present day, the
sastern Townships are generally understood as comprising the ten counties of Missisquoi,
Brome, Shefford, Drummond, Richmond, Sherbrooke, Stanstead, Compton, Wolfe and Megantic.
Some authorities also include Arthabaska.

Rev. Charles Stewart, D.D., afterwards Lord Bishop of Quebec, in a pamphlet written

1815, and published in 1817, says: *The Eastern Townships is a general name frequently
given to all the townships extending east from the River Richelieu, to the eastern boundary of
the Province, which divides it from New Hampshire and Massachusetts, and of the latter Maine
forms part. All this country is a forest, ¢ ccept where cleared by man. In the woods, rivers
and swamps, there are bears, wolves, and foxes, otters, beavers, martins, and muskrats; some
wildcats, some deer and moose; hares and squirrels of various sorts. There are also wild
ducks, and partridges (the partridge is a specie of the grouse), and other wild animals of
the feathered race. But birds do not abound; and game and furred animals are not plentiful.
# % In some of the townships large quantities of potatoes are raised, from which a pretty
good whlsl\a) is distilled. * * * Average yield, 250 to 300 bushels. Cider is made * *
and it is to be hoped that, in the course of a few years, it will be the common beverage in all
this part of the country.” If Bishop Stewart could have lived to the present day, when cider
is tabooed far more than potato whiskey was in those days, while the latter is not known of|
he would be hardly able to realize the change that has taken place. The Lord Bishop goes
on to say: ‘‘Black lead ore has been found in Newport and Eaton. * * * ‘There is not
any road established by law from any of these townships, either to Montreal, Three Rivers
or Quebec, except one laid out by the Grand Voyer, from Compton towards Three Rivers
(in or about 1809), and that one has not been worked upon. The need of some amendment
of legal jurisdiction is apparent. From Three Rivers to Hereford is about 150 miles, according
to the routes now .travelled. The consequence is, that suits for ten shillings and less, in the
distant townships, have cost as much as $14 for the service of the summons, and the return of
the same to the courc of Three Rivers, independent of further proceedings.”




HISTORY OF COMPTON COUNTY. 9

In the annals of the Eastern Townships no record is found of Indian villages, and never
were the first settlers harrassed by Indian tribes in search of scalps and plunder. With the
close of the war between England and France, in 1759, the stopping of all these Indian
barbarities was accomplished.  Previous to that time the whole energy of both countries
was brought to bear to educate their Indian allies to commit the most inhuman practices on
their enemies. TI'he Eastern Townships were the hunting grounds of several tribes belonging
to the Algonquin nation. The Iroquois, in New York State, (enemies of the Abenaquis
who were enlisted on the French side) were too near to allow Indian villages to be establishied
with any degree of security, and the KEuglish colonists had not pushed their settlements
anywhere near this territory at that time,

I'he Abenaquis Indians, previous to the coming of the French Jesuits among them, had
their villages principally in the eastern part of Maine. The Jesuit priests, as fast as they
made converts to the Christian religion, endeavored to separate them from their heathen
brethren, and at the same time bring them closer to Quebec and Montreal, where they would
be more under the influence of the French. The result was that mission villages were
establislied at Caughnawaga, near Montreal, on the Chauditre River, and one on the St. Francis
River, near its confluence with the St. Lawrence. These last were  Abenaquis converts, and
became known as the St. Francis Indiaus. These mission Indians, as weil as being taught
the principles of Christianity, were always at the command of the French General, and
committed some of the most horrible massacres known of in Indian warfare. For barbarity
they cxceeded their heathen brethren. The French cannot be blamed more than the English,
for the latter set on their Iroquois allies to emulate the outrages of their vpponents. The
thoroughfare between the mission village of the Abenaquis Indians was generally up the St.
Francis River, as far as the present city of Sherbrooke, across to Lake Memphremagog, and
down the Connecticut to the English settlements. The Indians of the mission village on the
Chaudi¢re River, also used the Connecticut River to reach the same settlements. Bouchette in
his Typographical Dictionary, published in 1815, menticns that there is a sort of Indian path
through the township of Auckland, from the Connecticut in the direction of the River Chaudicre.

In 1790 a proclamation was issued by George the Third, King of England, establishing the
first parliament in Canada. Antecedent to this time the whole of Upper and Lower Canada was
dominated the Province of Quebec. Owing to difficulties in managing so large a territory, it
was judged that it should be divided, which plan was sanctioned by the British Parliament. The
Province of Lower Canada was divided into the districts of Montreal, Three Rivers, Quebec, and
Gaspé, The land now known as the Fastern Townships was located in the three first named
districts.

There can be no doubt that United Empire Loyalists took up their residence in our Townships
before 1792, but the official records of such are missing. The first settlers are heard of on
Missisquoi Bay and Lake Memphremagog. At the head of the Connecticut River in the township of
Hereford, Colonel John Pope settled as early as 1792, and there is not much doubt but that settlers
were there for several years previously. As early as 1752 townships were surveyed and stockades
erected by the British at Coos, distant from Hereford about 20 miles, on the Connecticut River.
It is true this was relinquished shortly after, but at the close of the war in 1759 settlers rapidly
pushed their way up the Connecticut. Authentic and official information confines us to the early
part of 1792, as the time when the first settlers came into this territory.

From the Land Register, of Quebec, which is nothing else than a registry of the Proces
Verbaux of the awards and correspondence of the Committee whose duty it was to administer
land, we learn that on the 26th February, 1792, the Surveyor-General, Samuel Holland, proposed
to the Land Committee to employ a certain number of surveyors, whose names he gives. Among
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these are to be found that of Pennoyer, who is recommended by him for the District of St. Francis.
From this we are led to believe that this territory was designated by this name years before the
Inferior District of St. Francis was created in 1823. Further on we discover, “T'he 5th March,
1792, the Committee of Crown Lands commissioned Mr. Pennoyer to make the survey in the
District of St. Francis, and gave orders for the immediate commencement of the work.” We read
on page 64 of the Land Register, under date r1th April, 1792, “‘on the petition of Wm. Matthews,
Isaac Friot, and twenty others: That a warrant of survey issue for a township on the east of
Lake Memphremagog, and that a grant pass to the subscribing petitioners for two hundred acres
each, and that the question as to any further quantity stand over till return of survey.”

In the year 1796 the first lands in Lower Canada were granted in free and common soccage.
About 1820 the system of granting lands was through a township agent. He superintended the
settlement of each township, and was obliged to reside in or near to said township. FEvery settler
was compelled to clear a road to the width of 20 feet, in front of his lot. The agent received five
acres out of every 100 granted, and was also allowed for postage, stationery, etc., 2s. 6d. At no
preceding period did these townships show so rapid growth as between 1820 and 1828. In 1827
there were in Lower Canada about 25 township agents, and during that year the agencies were
done away with, the government selling direct to purchasers.

In 1831 there was a population in the Proviuce of s61,051. Of these seven-eights were
Catholics ; one twenty-first, Episcopalians; one twenty-first, Presbyterians; and one thirty-
second, Dissenters. About 20000 of the Catholics were Irish emigrants, whilst 470,917 were
native Canadians.

In 1803 the courts of Montreal rendered a decision that no right of property in slaves could
exist in Lower Canada, and the few slaves in this country were thus manumitted. The people in
the Townships were too poor to own slaves in those days, and two only are known to have been in
what is now Compton County. They belonged to Colonel John Pope, and remained with him until
their death when they were sent back to the old plantation in Massachusetts for burial.

In the works of Jos. Bouchette, for many years Survey-General of Lower Canada, may be
found a complete table of the post towns, and rates of postage for a single letter, in Halifax
currency, as given by Deputy Postmaster-General, F. A. Stayner. In the year 1829, mails left
Three Rivers every Tuesday at 10 p. m. To Sherbrooke fromu Halifax—8835 miles—z2s. 1d.; from
Quebec—185 miles—gd. ; from Three Rivers—g5 miles—7d.; from Richmond—27 miles—4'zd.

Extract of a despatch from Lord Aylmer, Governor-in-Chief of Lower Canada, to the
Secretary of State, England, dated Quebec, 12th October, 1831 : I have visited the Eastern
Townships as far as the frontier of the State of Vermont, in the United States. It is extremely
difficult to form an estimate of the numbers which the uncultivated parts of the Fastern Townships
will bear; but I think I am within the mark in saying that 500,000 persons might be added to the
existing population, with a certainty of raising sufficient agricultural produce for their own
subsistence, and for the purposes of commerce necessary for their other wants. The country
which goes under the name of The Townships, appears to me the most eligible for settlement of
any I have yet visited.”

Joseph Bouchette, in 1831, speaking of the Eastern Townships, says: * In dismissing the
consideration of this part of the country, we would remark the broad and conspicuous distinction
existing between two classes of the people of the same province, in a small comparative extent of
territory, as betwixt the inhabitants of the seigniorial settlements and those of the townships,
differing as they do in their language, their religion, their habits, their systems of agriculture, the
tenure of their lands, and partially in their laws. The prevalent language in the townships
is English, the tenure of the lands free and common soccage, and the laws by which lands
descend by inheritance are English. The French idiom is universal in the seigniories, the
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tenure of the lands, feudal,and the law of descent by which property is governed, is prescribed
by the custom of Paris.”

An anonymous writer says: ‘The present population of these Townships is of very mixed
character. Besides the original loyalist stock from over the border, the Mother Country has sent
her children, English, Scotch and Irish, to take root in the soil. They, and their children, are the
English-speaking Canadians of the Eastern Townships, but there has been also an immense influx
of French Canadians from the overcrowded French parishes, who, next to the Indians, may lay
claim to be children of the soil. The French Canadian people are employed in farming, and in
the towns and villages often follow the professions, many of them becoming priests, notaries,
lawyers and physicians. They are also largely engaged in trade, and they are invaluable as a
labouring population from their handiness and docility. This mixed population lives harmoniously
together, the French Canadians co-operating and harmonizing with their British-born brethren.
Differences will be found in the habits of life and tone of thought of a people so diverse in race, in
social habits, and in creed, but these differences do not lead to strife, they tend rather to soften the
manners and it has been remarked by careful observers, not themselves Canadians, that the tone
of society of these Townships shows traces of refinement due to a mixed population. The Eastern
Townships members of Parliament have been generally not a little distinguished for their ability,
their courtesy of manmners and their power of adapting themselves to the varied circumstances of
life, and this again has been ascribed as in some measure due to the mixed character of the society
to be found in the Fastern Townships. Loyalty to their native country is a well-known
characteristic of the people, and it is combined with loyalty to the Mother Country. This loyal
feeling to Canada arises out of the circumstances of their settlement. The spirit ur attachment to
the paternal home is invariably found to be strongest amongst those who have known what it is to
endure hardships. When this ‘“hearth love” grows up in a country, which, by its beauty, its
fertility, its advantages of every kind, gives scope for the attainment of material prosperity, the
love of country amongst the descendants of the pioneers, becomes mingled with a wholesome pride
that they are indebted for their prosperous condition, to the toils and dangers incurred by their
fathers.”




CHAPTER II.
DistricT or St Fraxcrs.

When Created —Boundary-~Dates of Enquétes, Courts, ete. —Names of Past and Present Court Officials —Its
Educational Advantages.

Legislature, chap. 77, of the 3rd year of George IV., with appeals to lie in either of the Judicial

Districts of Three Rivers or Montreal. Bouchette says: * This district is in the form of a
parallelogram, more than 50 miles in width from west to east, and upwards of 100 miles from
north to south. Its superficial extent is supposed to cover 3,500 squarce miles. Situated in the
District of Three Rivers, except four townships and part of a fifth in the District of Montreal. Tt
extends from the southern bounds of Wickham, Simpson, Warwick and Arthabaska, to the
southern boundary of the Province. Its western limits are Lake Memphremagog and a line
traversing Bolton, between the 22nd and 23rd ranges, and extending along the castern boundaries
of Stukely, Ely and Acton. On the ecast it extends to the western bounds of the counties of
Megantic and Beauce. Contains 38 townships and part of another. Population in 1831, 13,500."
Or in other words composing the present counties of Stanstead, Compton, Sherbrooke, Richmond
and Wolfe, together with four townships, afterwards added to the District of Arthabaska—Chester,
Tingwick, Kingsey and Durham.

By an Act of the third year of William IV., (1833), this was called the District of St. Francis.
After the formation of the County of Stanstead, in 1829, the remainder of the District formed the
County of Sherbrooke. The District now consists of the counties of Stanstead, Compton,
Sherbrooke, Richmond and Wolfe, and the city of Sherbrooke, which is the chef lieu. The Court
House, jail, and public offices for the District are located at the city of Sherbrooke.

The Queen's Bench meets on the first of the months of April and October. The terms of the
Superior Court are held from the 20th to the 26th of the months of February, May and October ;
and from the 21st to the 26th of December.  Superior Enquétes, from the 28th to the end of the
months of January, February, March, April, May, June, September, October, November and
December.  The Circuit Court for the District of St. Francis is held from the 1oth to the 15th of
the month of February; from the r1th to the 16th of May; and from the 1oth to the 16th of the
months of October and December. Enquétes, Sherbrooke, from the 21st to the 23rd of January ;
April gth; June 25th and 26th; and from the gth to the r1th November.

Records in the Prothonotaries office at Sherbrooke, do not indicate that any legal business was
done in this District previous to 1828, although it had been created an Inferior District rive years
before, in 1823. Previous to this time all business was transacted at Three Rivers. This
necessitated very heavy expenses on both sides, with the result that courts of justice were very
seldom called on. The people took the law into their own hands, and settled their difficulties
either by arbitration or in some other way, without having recourse to the courts. Instances are
known where a suit for ten shillings, brought against a defendant in Compton County, cost as
much as $14 for the service of the summons, and return of the same to the Court of T'hree Rivers,
independent of further proceedings.

lX 1823 the Inferior District of St. Francis was established, by an Act of the Provincial
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I'he Registry Office for ali this territory was also located at “T'hree Rivers, not being moved
to Sherbrooke until 1830. “I'he first deed registered was on July 6th of that year. In Apnl, 1836,
the Registry Office at Richmond was established, and in 1869 the Registry Office for the County
of Compton was opened at Cookshire. The following is a list of those who have acted in the
capacity o judges, prothonotaries, sheriffs and criers, since 1828. Judges—Hon's. J. Fletcher,
R. H. Gardner, E. Short, J. S. Sanborn, Marcus Dolerty, E. ‘T Brooks and Wm. White.
Piothonotaries—C. Felton, W. Bell, Bell & Bowen, Bell & Short, Short & Morris, Short &
Cabana, Cabana & Bowen. Sheriffs—C. Whitcher, G. ‘I'. Bowen, W. H. Webb, E. R. Johnson,
J. L. Terrill and John MecIntosh. Crier and Janitor—C. Hyndman. Crier—S. A. Stevens.
Janitor—Joseph Griffith. “The judicial officers at the present time are: Superior Court judge,
Hon. Wm. White; Sheriff, Johu McIntosh; Prothonotaries, Cabana & Bowen; Deputy Protho-
notaries, John Short and (. H. Hackett; High Constable, Hiram Moe; Crier, F. Camirand;
District Magistrate, G. E. Rioux. Owing to illness Judge Rioux has not been able to fulfill
and in hopes of his recovery an acting magistrate has been appointed his duties for sometime,
from time to time. For several months this position has been ably filled by R. P. Vallée, of Quebec.

Tlie District is in great part watered by the St. Francis River and numerous tributary
streams.  Some of the waters of the northern and eastern parts find their way to the St. Lawrence
by lower confluents, while a few small streams pass into United States territory. There are many
lakes, those of larger size being Memphremagog, Megantic, and Massawippi. The agricultural
products are mostly confined to beef, mutton, cheese and butter. Horses and beef have not been
so profitable for the past eight years, with the result that cheese and butter factories have been
numerously erected throughout the District. Comparatively little grain is raised, and the cropping
is principally for domestic consumption. Maple sugar is made by nearly all farmers, largely for
export, bringing a price higher than granulated sugar can be purchased for. Fruits do well, and
the cultivation of apples has extended rapidly, during the past few years. A practically unlimited
amount of water power is a guarantee of the future prosperity of this district.  ‘I'he principal
product, especially in Compton and Wolfe counties, is lumber.  Saw mills are numer- s on all
rivers of any size.

The whole District of St. Francis is well supplied with railway communication, no less than
four different roads centering at Sherbrooke, including the two great systems, Canadian Pacific and
Grand Trunk. The Quebec Central and Boston & Maine are the other two. ‘The Maine Central,
with terminus at Lime Ridge, connects with the Q. C. R. at Dudswell Junction, and with the
C. P. R. at Cookshire, and traversing Compton Couunty gives good connection with all U. S. cities.

In mining there is no doubt a great future in store. Asbestos and slate quarries in Richmond,
copper mines at Capelton, and lime works in Dudswell, are yet in the infancy of their development,
A gold mine in Ditton was profitably worked by the late Hon. John Henry Pope for many years,
while in Dudswell gold is found in several places in paying quantities.

The educational facilities throughout the District are good. Nearly all townships have
academies or model schools, generally run on the separate school system, the Roman Catholics
having School Boards and schools of their own. Lennoxville may be called the educational centre,
for there is established Bishops College University, possessed of a Royal Charter for conferring
degrees in arts, divinity, law, and medicine. The Arts, Divinity and Law Faculties of this
university are carried on in the College buildings at Lennoxville, its Medical Faculty in Montreal.
In connection with the College there is the College School, which has turned out many young men
who have earned distinction in the various walks of Canadian life. ‘T'he Institution, although
under the government of the Church of England, admits persons of all religious denominations to
its educational course. It exacts no tests, only requiring from such of the pupils as are members
of the Church of England, regular attendance on the services of the Church.
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In Sherbrooke excellent educational advantages are offered the Protestants, through their high
schools, and young men and young ladies' academies. The colleges, convents, and high schools
of the Roman Catholics for the District are located here. They offer every advantage to this
constantly increasing part of our population, to secure an education equal to that supplied by the
Protestant colleges.

At Stanstead Plain is located the Stanstead Wesleyan College, and in 1895 there was added
thereto the Bugbee annex, whicli is used as a commercial college, offering all the advantages for a
business education that may be found elsewhere. This college is affiliated with McGill, of
Montreal, and although under the control of the Methodist Church, offers a high education to all,
the rules being such that it is liberally patronized by every denomination. This college is open to
both young ladies and young men, on equal terms. In 1894 a debt of some $18,000 was cleared
off by contributions from friends throughout the country. At Stanstead Plain $10,000 of this was
raised, the largest givers being those of other than the Methodist denomination. The prospects
for this Institution are bright.

At Richmond is located the St. Francis College, one of the oldest educational institutions in
the District. Its work has been good, and at the present time it is under excellent management,
and in a prosperous condition.

The Compton Ladies’ College is a prosperous institution, and further particulars of the same
will be found in this book in the history of the Township of Compton.




CHAPTER Il
EarrLy HisTorRy—1692 1791,

Indian Fight Between the Iroquois and Abenaquis Indians—Rogers Attack on the St. Francis Village —Arnold's
Expedition to Quebec,

N the foregoing chapters we havc given a brief outline of the Eastern Townships, and the
District of St. Francis. We now narrow our subject down to the county of Sherbrooke, as it was
known from 1829 to 1853, and which comprised the present counties of Compton, Sherbrooke,

Richmond, and Wolfe. Previous to 1791, when the first Parliament of Canada was elected, this
territory was all dense woods, untrammelled by the foot of a white man. In that year the first
steps for surveying the land were taken and the surveyors were closely followed by settlers.

The River St. Francis was the great thoroughfare for the Indians for years immemorial, and
the territory now occupied by farms in state of high cultivation was then their hunting grounds.
The St. Francis River owes its name to the tribe of Abenaquis Indians, known by the name of St.
Francis, and whose descendants still live on the Indian reservation, near the conjunction of this
river with the St. Lawrence, in Yamaska County.

The Jesuit priests who first came ont from France in 163z, were fired with a holy desire to
convert all of the Indians of America to the Christian faith. Whatever may have been said
against them, their zeal in their work was certainly commendable. These Jesait priests suffered
the greatest hardships, torture and finally death, in their desire to convert the heathen Indians.
The territory of which we write was the hunting ground of the Abenaquis Indians, who roamed
through a greater part of Maine. The labor of the Jesuits was rewarded by converts, and as fast
as they were made in the Indian tribes they were sent to villages near the French soldiers and
French garrisons. Thus were the Indian villages established at Caughnawaga, near Montreal,
on the Chzudiere River, near Quebec, and ou the St. Francis. These converted Abenaquis
were known as the St. Francis Abenaquis, in distinction from their heathen brethren,

In the Indian Department at Ottawa may be found records of a story, handed down by the St.
Francis tribe, dating as far back as 1692. The story goes as follows: In February of 1692, a
company of Iroquois Indians from New York State, started on the war path, intending to attack
the village of the St. Francis Indians, who were then their enemies. The Iroquois Indians were
encouraged on in their attacks by the English and Dutch settlers, who had commenced to push out
their settlements, located on the New England coast. The French Government protested against
these encroachments, and labored to have the Abenaquis and other Indian tribes make war on and
exterminate the English and Dutch settlers. In this the French Jesuit priests were of great
assistance to their government, at times showing as great zeal in trying to promote strife as in
converting the Indians. For this reason there were incessant hostilities going on between the
Iroquois and Abenaquis. This Iroquois war party made their way to Lake Memphremagog,
through that lake and down the Magog River, camping on the present site of Sherbrooke. At that
time it was known by the Indians as Skaswantegou, meaning ‘‘ River where we smoke,” and
evidently was a place for all parties to camp just before or after “carrying " around the rapids
on the Magog River at this place. About the same time a party of Abenaquis Indians from the
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St. Francis Village, were making their way up the St. Francis River. ‘They also encamped at the
same place, only lower down the river. Shortly after making camp the Abenaquis saw smoke
arising on the Magog, and on investigation found it to be the camp of the Iroquois Indians.  Both
parties werce of about the same number and strength, therefore being equally divided. As they
were thirsting for scalps and a fight was inevitable, while the progress of both parties was
stopped, a consultation was agreed upon. At this meeting of the leaders of the two war parties, it
was agreed that the Iroquois and Abenaquis should each choose one of their best warriors, and
superiority of either party should depend on the physical endurance of the warrior chosen. The
terms of the contest were, that the two men should run around a pine tree on a small island in the
St. Francis River, just below the present city of Sherbrooke.

In this singular contest referred to, the warrior who could endure the running for the lonzest
length of time, was to kill his opponent, and have the scalp as his reward. The result to be
accepted by both sides as final. The two war partics lined up on each side of the river to watch
the battle between the strongest and best men of cach tribe. The winning of this contest involved
not only the result of the success of one party, but also, practically, the control of that part of the
St. Francis River. At a given signal the men started on what meant death to one of them. For
a while the running was easy, and not very exciting for either side, but as they round and round
kept going, it could be seen there was a gradual decrease of speed on the part of both. The rough
surface of the ground soon was the cause of falls, each one receiving grunts of satisfaction from the
opposite side, who were becoming intensely interested. The men were making a grand struggle
but nature must ultimately win. It was evident both were about evenly divided as to enduring
qualities, and the result uncertain. The falls became more numerous, the breathing short and
quick, while these two noble warriors, worthy representatives of their respective tribes, fought for
life and fame.  Finally the Iroquois falls, he does not rise, and the Abenaquis, with arm almost
limp, cleaves his head with the tomahawk, the winuer of the fray, but by no means with strength
to spare. Thus the Abenaquis Indians win the St. Francis Valley as their own. This way of
settling a battle, that had to be fought, showed wisdom and unanimity, that might be copied with
profit by the civilized nations of the world.

There is now, at the same place, pine tree, alive and vigorous in growth, which is
supposed to be the same one referred to here. The late Mr. Moe said that he could remember
the tree eighty years ago, and it was then the same sizc as now. A limb of the tree was a few
years ago sent to Laval University, at Quebec, and, on examination, one of the professors said it
was quite possible that the tree may be three hundred years old, and standing at the time of
the fight here referred to. The rock or island on which this pine acts as solitary seutinel,
probably was much larger than at present, for the rock has fissures through it, and would
indicate that as the years have passed away large pieces have broken off, and been carri. 4 away by
the ice and high water, with which it has to battle each spring.

EXPEDITION OF ROGERS IN 1759.

The next important event that took place on the St. Francis River, was in 1759, when Rogers
made an attack on the village of the St. Francis Indians, and retreated up that river, making his
way to the Connecticut. Major Rogers was a daring, native American, who had figured with
credit, in several attacks on the French and Indians, in the war which had then been going on for
several years. He was under the command of General Ambherst, stationed at Ticonderoga and
Crown Point, on Lake Champlain, while his men were those used to Indian warfare, and able to
endure the severest hardships. Francis Parkman, in the second volume of his book, ‘* Montcalm
and Wolfe,” describing this attack, says:
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“ Major Robert Rogers, sent in September (1759) to punish the Abenakis of St. Francis, had
addressed himself to the task with his usual vigor. T'hese Indians had been settled for about three
quarters of a century on the River St. Francis, a few miles above its junction with the St. Lawrence.
They were nominal Christians, and had been under the control of their missionaries for three
generations; but though zealous and sometimes fanatical in their devotion to the forms of
Romanism, they remained thorough savages in dress, habits and character. They were the scourge
of the New England borders, where they surprised and burned farmhouses and small hamlets,
killed men, women and children without distinction, carried other prisoners to their village,
subjected them to the torture of ‘running the gauntlet,’ and compelled them to witness dances of
triumph around the scalps of parents, children, and friends.

“ Ambherst's instructions to Rogers contained the following: ‘ Remember the barbaritics that
have been committed by the enemy’s Indian scoundrels. Take your revenge, but don't forget that,
though those dastardly villains have promiscuously murdered women and children of all ages, it
is my order that no women or children be killed or hurt.’

“ Rogers and his men sct out in whaleboats, and, eluding the French armed vessels, then in full
activity, came, on the tenth day to Missisquoi Bay, at the north end of Lake Champlain. Here
he hid his boats, leaving two friendly Indians to watch them from a distance, and inform him
should the enemy discover them. He then began his march for St. Francis, when, on the evening
of the second day, the two Indians overtook him with the startling news that a party of about four
hundred French had found the boats, and that half of them were on his tracks in hot pursuit. Tt
was certain that the alarm would soon be given, and other parties sent to cut him off. He took
the bold resolution of outmarching his pursuers, pushing straight for St. Francis, striking it before
succors could arrive, and then returning by ILake Memphremagog and the Connecticut.
Accordingly he despatched Lieutenant McMullen by a circuitous route back to Crown Point, with
a request to Amherst that provisions should be sent up the Connecticut to meet him on the way
down. Then he set his course for the Indian town, and for nine days more toiled through
he forest with desperate energy. Much of the way was through dense spruce swamps, with
no dry resting place at night. At length the party reached the River St. Francis, fifteen
miles above the town, and, hooking the arms togethei for mutual support, forded it with
extreme difficulty. Towards evening, Rogers climbed a tree, and descried the town three
miles distant. Accidents, fatigue, and illness had reduced his followers to a hundred and
forty-two officers and men. He left them to rest for a time, and, taking with him Lieutenant
Turner and Ensign Avery, went to reconnoitre the place; left his two companions, entered
it disguised in an Indian dress, and saw the unconscious savages yelling and singing in the
full enjoyment of a grand dance. At two o'clock in the morning he rejoined his party, and
at three led them to the attack, formed them in a semicircle, and burst in upon the town
half an hour before sunrise. Many of the warriors were absent, and the rest were asleep.
Some were killed in their beds, and some shot down in trying to escape. ‘‘About seven
o'clock in the morning,” he says, ‘the affair was completely over, in which time we had
killed at least two hundred Indians and taken twenty of their women and children prisoners,
fifteen of whom I let go their own way, and five I brought with me, namely: two Indian
boys and three Indian girls. I likewise retook five English captives.

“ English scalps in hundreds were dangling from poles over the doors of the houses. The
town was pillaged and burned, not excepting the church, where ornaments of some value
were found. On the side of the rangers, Captain Ogden and six men were wounded, and a
Mohegan Indian from Stockbridge was killed. Rogers was told by his prisoners that a party
of three hundred French and Indians was encamped on the river below, and that another
party of two hundred and fifteen was not far distant. They had been sent to cut off the

2
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retreat of the invaders, but were doubtful as to their designs till after the blow was struck.
There was no time to lose. ‘The rangers made all haste southward, up the St. Francis,
subsisting on corn from the Indian town; till, near the ecastern borders of Lake
Memphremagog, the supply failed, and they separated into small parties, the better to
sustain life by huuting. The enemy followed close, attacked Eunsign Avery's party, and
captured five of them; then fell upon a baud of about twenty, under Lieutenants Dunbar
and Turner, and killed or captured nearly all.  ‘The other bands eluded their pursuers, turned
southeastward. reach the Connecticut, some here, some there, aud, giddy with fatigue and
hunger, toiled wearily down the wild and lonely stream to the appointed rendez-vous at the
mouth of the Amonoosuc.

“This was the place to which Rogers had requested that provisions might be sent; and
the hope of finding them there had been the breath of life to the famished wayfarers. ‘To
their horror, the place was a solitude. There were fires still burning, but those who made
them were gone. Amherst had sent Lieutenant Stephen up the river from Charlestown with
an abundant supply of food; but finding nobody at the Amonoosuc, he had waited there
two days, and then returned, carrying the provisions back with him; for which outrageous
conduct he was expelled from the service. ‘It is hardly possible, says Rogers, ‘to describe
our grief and consternation.' Some gave themselves up to  despair. Few but their
indomitable chief had strength to go farther. There was scarcely any game, and the barren
wilderness yielded no sustenance but a few lily bulbs and the tubers of the climbing plant,
called in New England the groundnut. Leaving his party to these miserable resources,
and promising to send them relief within ten days, Rogers made a raft of dry pine logs,
and drifted on it down the stream, with Captain Ogden, a ranger, and one of the captive
Indian boys. They were stopped on the second day by rapids, and gained the shore with
difficulty. At the foot of the rapids, while Ogden and the ranger went in search of squirrels,
Rogers set himself to making another raft; and, having no strength to use the axe, he
burned down the trees, which he then divided into logs by the same process. Five days
after leaving his party he reached the first English settlement, Charlestown, or ‘Number
Four and immediately sent a canoe with provisions to the relief of the sufferers,
following, himself, with other canoes, two days later. Most of the men were saved, though
some died miserably of famine and exhaustion. Of the few who had been captured, we
are told by a French contemporary that they ‘became victims of the fury of the Indian
women,” from whose clutches the Canadians tried in vain to save them.”

The subjoined account is taken from Mrs. Day's history of *The Eastern Townships,”
published in 1869. Francis Parkman notes having seen the same, and says: *“If such an
incident really took place, it is scarcely possible that Rogers would not have made some
mention of it.  On the other hand, it is equally incredible that the Indians would have
invented the tale of their own defeat. Ali things considered, it is, probably, groundless.”
Notwithstanding this the story has sufficient evidence of truth to warrant reprinting.

*“The late Jesse Pennoyer, Esq, of Compton, Government Land Surveyor, while on a
professional tour of exploration and survey in the townships, was accompanied by Captain
St. Francis, late chief of that tribe of Indians, and one of the few survivors of the pursuing
party. This captain St. Francis gave Mr. Pennoyer the following relation of the affair,
which was corroborated by a person named Bowen, son of oue of Roger's men; and still
further in its main features, by the descendants of a person named Barnes, one of the
recovered captives mentioned:

“On the morning of the fifth of October, 1759, the assault took place; two hundred
Indians of all ages and sexes were slain; some few taken prisoners, and a number of
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English captives retaken; when Rogers, with his party, prisoners and rescued captives,
made a hasty retreat up the St. Francis River. ‘T'he chief of the tribe (father of the Captain
St. I'rancis, above named), with a number of his warriors, had come in during the day,
and immediately held a council of war, at which, it was decided that all present should start
in pursuit the next morning; and that as many more of their warriors as they could call
in should start, with canoes, on the second day. Accordingly, on the moruing of the sixth,
about fifty warriors, each armed with a gun, tomahawk and scalping knife, started up on the
north shore of the river; and on the seventh, about forty-five more, armed like the others,
set off in seven large canoes. These overtook the party that had started the day before, at
the rapids, in the Township of Wendover, where the first detachment had awaited the arrival
of the canoes; and at day break, on the morning of the eighth, they all set off together.
T'hey came up with Rogers’ men in Kingsey, and in the skirmish that ensued, the Indians
lost several men, while only three or four of the other party were slightly wounded. As
soon as the Indians discovered any of their enemies, they fired and often missed aim; in
fact, their shots seldom took effect, and before they had time to reload they were shot down,
or if the savage was separated from his fellows, his enemy quickly rushed up and dispatched
him with the bayonet. ‘The Indians sustained considerable loss, in this manner, throughout
the day, though they succeeded in doing but little injury to their enemies. On the morning
of the ninth, they held a council, at which it was proposed and urged by quite a number of
their party to abandon the pursuit and retirn. Well would it have been for them had
they done so; but the majority of them were for pushing forward to the ‘ Little Forks' (now
Lennoxville) where they intended to give their enemies another battle. On the tenth,
Rogers crossed, with his men, to the opposite shore of the river, near Brompton Falls, and
while the Indians were making the portage, pushed on towards the ‘Big Forks' (now
Sherbrooke) and gained an elevated point. His experienced cye, at once, saw the strategic
importance of the position thus gained, and he at once determined to avail himself of the
advantage, to attempt the defeat of his enemies, and put an effectual end to further
annoyance from them.

“The river, which here makes a short turn, on one side has a high bank, which was
then thickly wooded; while the opposite point was low, and then covered with a thin growth
of stunted bushes. From this height Rogers had a fair view of the river for a distance of
two miles down. For the purpose of deceiving and misleading the enemy's scouts, he sent
a small party of his men on to the ‘Little Forks,” with instructions to build fires, in a
manner similar to what had been done in their former camping grounds, and then return
to join the main body at the heights beyond the mouth of the Magog.

“In the meantime the Indian scouts passed up the north shore till they saw the fires at
the ‘Little Forks,’ and thinking that Rogers’ party were encamping there, returned to the
falls with the intelligence. Those who had completed the porfage immediately set out in the
canoes, leaving the others to follow up the north shore, expecting to find their enemies in
camp at the ‘ Little Forks,’ and hoping to surprise them and cut off their retreat. But their
vigilent foe had not been idle. During this time he had posted his men in such a manner
that, while they were out of sight themselves, they had full view of the approaching canoes
a long way down the river, and, as they came near, could tell about the number of savages
on board of each, by the number of paddles. He then arranged for the attack by appointing
a certain number of men for each canoe, equal to the number of paddles in each; and
detailing a man to fire at each Indian separately from the first to the last, gave strict orders
to aim well and not to fire till the signal was given by himself. Everything was quiet
until about one-half of the canoes had turned the point, when the signal was given, and the
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men fired with such surve precision and deadly effect that almost every savage in the canoes
was either killed or mortally wounded. The Indians on the north shore had got a little in
advance of the canoes by crossing the point, with the intent of fording the river, but on
hearing the firing they hastened back to the point. By this time Rogers' men had reloaded,
and, being still in ambush, again fired and killed several, while the others retreated up to
the crossing, and forded the river. ‘The English still kept on the heights, and a general
and irregular skirmish followed; but as the savages were in the open woods on the intervale
below the mouth of the Magog River, while the others were covered by the thick forest on
the hill, the result was that most of the whole Indian force was cither killed or badly
wounded, while but few of their enemies were cither killed or hurt,

“TIt being now near sunset, the English party crossed the Magog, and proceeded up to
the *Little Forks,” where they encamped for the night, and the next day Rogers addressed
his men, thanking them for their bravery and obedience to his orders, and for their
faithfulness and perseverance from the first of the difficult enterprise which  had  been
undertaken and carried out, in order to pay their savage foes in their own coin, for their
repeated cruelties to the colonists in former years,

““T'his they had now achieved by the almost entire annihilation of that tribe of their enemies.

““Then, ordering the remaining prisoners to be shot, he resigned his command, advising
the men to divide themselves into small companics, each of which should take a somewhat
different route to reach the appointed rendezvous on the Connecticut River. T'his method
he deemed best, as affording to small parties a greater chance for game, on which all had
now to depend for food. The advice was f{ollowed, some of the men going up the St
Francis to the mouth of the Eaton River, others taking the Massawippi or Coaticook."

ARNOLD'S EXPEDITION TO QUEBEC IN 1775,

The third event worthy of notice took place in the fall of 1775, and happened in part
of what is now Compton County. This was the march through the wilderness and expedition
to Quebec of Benedict Arnold. Whatever the verdict of people may have been on his
betrayal of his trust a few years later, certainly no man ever showed more energy and
determination to overcome difficulties than did Arnold on his trip to Quebec. In this narrative
we have made copious extracts from the “ Life of Benedict Arnold,” by Isaac N. Arnold.

When Washington reached Cambridge and assumed command, on the third of July, 1775,
he had already favorably considered the plan of attacking Quebee, and obtaining military
possession of Canada. Schuyler had been selected to lead an army into Canada by way of
the northern lakes. It was now proposed by Arnold that an expedition should march by
way of the Kennebee River, through the wilderness over the mountains, in Maine, to Quebec,
to capture the city by surprise and co-operate with Schuyler. ‘The plan of reaching Quebec
by this route is said to have been suggested by Arnold. After several conferences
Washington heartily adopted the project.

Conscious of the difficulties to be encountered, Arnold selected the best material in his
army for the expedition. The field officers were Lieutenant-Colonels Christopher Green,
of Rhode Island, and Roger Enos, of Connecticut; Majors Return J. Meigs, of Conmnecticut,
and Timothy Bigelow, of Massachusetts. Among the captains was the celebrated Daniel
Morgan, the famous rifleman of Virginia. The detachment consisted in all of 1100 men, from
the mountains of Virginia and Pennsylvania; hunters and Indian fighters, familiar with
woodcraft, the rifle, the hunting-knife, and the birch-bark canoe; men who could endure
hunger, exposure and fatigue; who knew how to find subsistence and shelter in the forests;
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who could supply themselves with food from the deer, the bear/and other wild game, and from
fish from the rivers. ‘T'his little army started from Prospect Hill; mear Cambridge, Mass., on
the eleventh of September, 1775, They reached Fort Western, on the Keunébee Riyer, oppo-
site the present city of Augusta, Maine, on the twenty-third of September,

All the information Arnold could obtain of the route was what he could glean from
the meagre journal of Montresor, who had passed from Canada to the Kennebee fifteen years
before; some facts gathered from a party of St. 1 -ancis Indians, who had lately visited the
camp of Washington ; and a rude and imperfect map made by a surveyor of the Kennebec.

The route selected as the most feasible was to ascend the Kennebee to what was called
the great carrying place between it and the Dead River; then turning west, surmount the
carrying place; thence on over the extreme summit which divides the waters of New
England from those of the St. Lawrence. Crossing this, they hoped and expected to strike
the head-waters of the Chaudi¢re, and from thence descend to the St. Lawrence and Quebec,
With his very limited knowledge of the country and the route, the commander deemed it
prudent to send forward a small exploring party in advance, who were expected to move
with the utmost rapidity in bark canoes, to ascertain the obstacles and dangers, and explore
and mark the best route. ‘I'his party had instructions to go as far as Lake Megantic, or,
as it was then called, Chauditre pond. ‘The man selected to lead this advance party was
Archibald Steele, a bold, active, hardy, and resolute young soldier.

An outline of the trip of this pioneer party may be of interest. Starting from Fort
Western, on the twenty-third of September, in birch-bark canoes, the party passed on rapidly
to Fort Halifax, and thence to Skowhegan Falls, four miles cast of the village of Norridgewack.
Here they met the first portage, or carrying place, around the rapids and by bdlazing the
trees marked the route of those who were to follow,

They ascended the river rapidly, dlazing the trees at every carrying place. ILeaving the
last habitation of the white man at Norridgewack, the pariy passed on into the wilderness.
Having passed many falls, rapids and carrying places, on the twenty-ninth of September
they arrived at the great carrying place, distant about sixty miles from Skowhegan. The
distance across the portage to Dead River was twelve miles, but there were three or four
ponds which could be used to lessen the land carriage. Steele’s party, leaving the
Kennebec, struck out towards Dead River, and at evening encamped on the margin of the
first pond, sleeping, as usual when on shore, on branches of the fir, hemlock and other
evergreens, The ground across this carrying place was rough, rocky and rugged,
interspersed with bogs, in which the men often sunk to their knees. It was now decided by
Steele to divide his little party, leaving the weakest and half the provisions, while he pressed
forward with the strongest and most enduring of his men. Two days of very hard work
brought him to the banks of Dead River.

Pressing on, cach day meeting new difficulties, their provisions grew scant, and the
party put themselves on short rations, and resolved to eat their pork raw, and to eat but
twice each day, morning and evening.

October fourth brought the party to the deserted wigwam of Natanis, an Indian chief,
then supposed to be in the pay of the English as a spy, but who with a part of his warriors
was afterwards induced by Arnold to join the expedition, and who with his men faithfully
accompanied him to Quebec. The country grew more and more rough and difficult as the
party advanced, and having now reached nearly to the high lands dividing the waters which
flow to the Atlantic from those which empty ° ‘he St. Lawrence, the weather became
bitterly cold, and snow and ice added to their difficulties.

At length, on the seventh of October, the party of Steele, weary and worn, reached the
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end of their explorations—the head waters of the Chauditre.  Gathering around the roots of
a pine, which rose forty feet without a branch, Steele asked if any of the party could elimb
it.  Robert Cunningha'n, an athletic young soldier, twenty-five years of age, instantly
began the ascent, going up with the activity almost of a squirrel.  From the top he could
trace far away towards the north the meanderings of the river, until it expanded into Lake
Megantic, fifteen miles distant, Elated with their success, the party turned their faces back
towards their comrades, toiling far behind in the depths of the forests,

Far from their companions, and nearly famishing, where were they to obtain food to
sustain life? They made all possible haste, looking constantly for game, and finding none
until the ninth, when they fortunately shot a small duck, called a diver. At night when
they gathered around their camp-fire, they anxiously discussed the question how this duck
and their little pittance of remaining food could be most effectually used to prolong life.
They decided to boil the duck in their camp kettle, each man putting in his last bit of pork,
and each marking his own by running through it a small wooden skewer, marked with his
own private mark. The broth so made was to be all the supper the poor fellows had,
reserving the boiled pork for breakfast, and the duck to be divided and laid by, Rising
carly next morning, each man took his mouthful of pork, and breakfast was over. ‘T'he duck
was then separated into ten parts, the number of the party, and divided in the hunter's usual
way—that is, one of the party turned his back, and then Steele asked of the man whose back
was turned to the fragments, * Whose shall this be?" The man answered, naming the party.

On the seventeenth this pioneer party and the advance of the main body met, and they
were welcomed as brave men welcome comrades who have escaped a fearful danger. More
than three weeks had passed since they had left Fort Western,

The main body had followed as soon, after these scouts, as possible, moving in four
divisions, one day's march apart, to avoid confusion in passing rapids and portages.

Arnold remained at Fort Western to see all embarked, and then in a fast birch-bark
canoe, paddled by Indians, he pushed rapidly forward, and, passing each party, overtook
Morgan and the riflemen at Norridgewack Falls. From this place the march was to be
through a wild and uninhabited wilderness, without paths, and often without even an Indian
trail. Across dismal swamps and deceptive bogs, up rocky precipices and almost inaccessible
mountains, along streams full of rapids and falls, and along and over all these obstacles, the
rude batteaux, the arms and ammunition with which to attack the strongest fortress in
America, and all their provisions, supplies and clothing, to protect them from the rigor of a
Canadian winter, now too rapidly approaching, were to be transported.

As the soldiers pushed their boats up Dead River, passing around a bend, a high
mountain, covered with snow, rose before them. KEncamping near the foot of this mountain,
Arnold raised his flag; and the incident has been commemorated by giving the name of
“Flagstaff” to a village near by, and the mountain has been named Mount Bigelow, after
Major Bigelow, who is said to have climbed to the top, in the hopes of seeing Quebec.

On the twenty-fourth of October, it was supposed that they were within thirty miles of
Lake Megantic, and that their provisions might, with great care, hold out for twelve or
fifteen days. Another council was called, and it was decided to send back to the hospital
the sick and feeble, and that only the strong and hardy should go forward.

Meanwhile Arnold himself was hurrying on with all possible despatch. The rain
changed to snow, ice covered the water, and the men, wading and breaking through snow
and sleet, at length reached the very summit which separated the waters of New England
from those of Canada. Another portage of four wiles brought them to a small stream, along
which they passed to Lake Megantic, or Chaudiére pond.
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John Joseph Henry, one of the survivors of Arnold's campaign, has left a narrative of
the trip. It seems remarkable that those men should have suffered for food in passing
through a country which at the present day abounds with fish and deer. Henry mentions
the appearance of moose, with antlers of enormous size. One pair, he thinks, stood eighteen
feet high, while a pair that had been shed, and which they found, he could stand under. He
says no deer were seen at that time. Henry, continuing, say:: “Thus we proceeded, the
pale and meager looks of my companions, tottering on their feeble limbs, * % " and
coming to a sandy beach of the Chaudidre (Lake Megantic), some men of our company were
observed to dart from the file, and with their nails tear out of the sand roots which they
deemed ecatable, and eat them raw, Powerful men struggled, even with blows, for these
roots, such was the extremity of their hunger.,” Old moose-hide breeches were boiled, and
then broiled on the coals and ecaten. Some tried to make soup out of their old deerskin
moccasing, but, althongh the poor fellows boiled them long, they were leather still. Many
died from fatigne and hunger, frequently in four or five minutes after giving up and sitting
down. Henry says these hardships produced among the men a willinguness to die.

Arnold pushed on far in advance of his men to secure them foed. On the thirtieth
October, at night, he reached the first house on the Chaudi¢re River, cighty miles from
Lake Megantic, and with the next morning’s sun a supply of fresh provisions and flour had
started and was hastening back, with all possible speed, yet none too soon to save the lives
of his famishing soldiers.

Henry says they reached Height of Land on the twentv eighth of October; the Chaudidre,
or present Arnold River, the twenty-ninth of October; and left Lake Megantic on the second
of November. He says that chaudidre, in French, means a caldron or boiler, and that in
this case it is well termed.

It is evident from Arnold’s and Henry's accounts that the army moved in sections in
some cases several days apart.  Arnold must have reached the present site of Lake Megantic
Village on the twenty-seventh or twenty-eight of October, while his soldiers arrived in small
compan;es day by day thereafter.

By the cighth of November nearly all of the detachment, except the rear division, had
reached Arnold’s camp at the French settlements, and by the thirteenth of December he had
all of his men with him at Point Lévis, while across the River St. Lawrence towered the
Citadel of Quebec. Here was he to meet defeat, and his hardships and trials on this
remarkable march were to be for naught. Not until after 1850 were the places where these
hardships took place, again visited by man.

To the present day occasional traces, on the Arnold River, may be seen of camps
having been made by Arnold’s men. Only a few years ago a French bayonet was found in
this river, and later a bunch of bullets such as were used in the guns of that day. The leather
case in which they had been enclosed had decayed and fallen away. In 1858 a musket was
discovered. The stock had entirely decayed, and the mountings and barrel had fallen to the
ground. This gives an idea of the lovely, inhospitable solitudes through which these men
passed. During this period of more than eighty years, the pioneer hnd penetrated every
bay and harbor of the great western lakes, and, crossing the Mississippi, and scaling
the rocky mountains, he had erected his settler’s cabin along the shores of the Pacific;
but into these gloomy solitudes of Maine and Compton, during all this time, no wanderer
had gone.




CHAPTER 1V,
BuekiNnomayd County.

1791-18209.

Province of Quebec, and previous to 1791 no records of any scttlement in the

Eastern Townships are to be found. In 1783, there was a total population in
Canada of 113,000, exclusive of 10,000 Loyalists, who had located in the wpper portions
of the Province., When the new law came into operation, Canada passed under the rule
of the fourth government set over her during the thirty-one years succeeding the conquest.
First, there was martial law, from 1760 to 1763; military sway, from the latter date to
17747 a species of civil rule, from 1774 to 1791 ; and, finally, a partially elective system
to commence in 1792.

After dividing Canada into two provinces, and apportioning the laws and regulations
which were to prevail in each, the new constitution provided that all public functionaries,
beginning with the Governor-General, should be nominated by the Crown, and be removable
at royal pleasure; and that the free exercise of the Catholic religion, with the conservation
of its rights, should be guaranteed permanently. In each province there was to be instituted
a Legislative Council and a Legislative Assembly.

The Province of Quebec was divided into three chief districts, known as Quebec,
Montreal and Three Rivers. The districts were further subdivided into counties. The
present County of Compton was situated in the County of Buckingham, District of Three
Rivers, with the exception of part of the Township of Compton, which was located in
Richelieu County, Montreal District, along with the present County of Stanstead. Buckingham
County sent two representatives to the Legislative Assembly, being sub-divided, in 1829,
into the six counties of Sherbrooke, Megantic, Lotbiniére, Drummond, Nicolet aud Yamaska.

The first settlements in Compton or Sherbrooke Counties date back to as early a
date as any in the Kastern Townships. The settlers around Missisquoi Bay are supposed
to have arrived there about 1792. In Hereford, at the head of the Connecticut River, we
have records of Lemue: Pope having been born there in 1792; while it is very probable
settlers were in that township, which had not then been surveyed, for several years previous.

As early as 1794, prospectors made their way through Clifton into Faton, and located
sections on which, in a year or two, they settled with their families. In the year 1796,
six brothers, of the name of Hyatt, of Arlington, Vt., came to Canada and settled on part
of the tract now known as the township of Ascot, which was organized and granted
sth March, 1803. The first settlers on the present site of Sherbrooke, as far as can be
learned, were David Mol, Gilbert Hyatt, and Samuel Terrill. Mrs. Day says: * Others,
still, even affix a later date than 1803; yet, these differences may be set aside by the
fact that David Mol, who, at an early date, located just outside the limits of Sherbrooke,
built the first frame barn that was put up in the settlement, on a board of which building
the date 18co was engraved ; showing the barn to have been built that year. Such being

! NTECEDENT to 1791, the whole of Upper and Lower (Canada was denominated the
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the case, a saw-mill must have been in operation previously.” Settlements on Lake
Memphremagog were made in 1792, and the first opening at Stanstead Plain in 1796.

During the ten years following the coming into effect of the law of 1791, the Kastern
Townships made rapid advancement towards settlement. Under the supervision of Joseph
Bouchette, Esq., Surveyor-General of Lower Canada, the townships were surveyed, named,
and laid out for settlement. In Compton County, the townships of Compton, Faton, Clifton,
Hereford, Westbury, Newport, Auckland, Marston and Clinton were surveyed, while Bury,
Lingwick, and Ditton were only surveyed in part. The townships of Emberton, Chesham,
Winslow and Witton were only projected, and not surveyed until after 1831. There was
a township projected, to be known as Drayton, lying to the east of Hereford and south of
Auckland. By the settlement of the boundary between the United States and England,
in 1842, this projected township was found to be nearly all in territory belonging to the
United States, with the exception of a small piece in the north-west corner, which was
added to Hereford. Another projected township on the boundary, wholly obliterated, was
known as Croyden.

Joseph Bouchette, writing in 1831, says of the projected township of Drayton: “Tt
is in the rear of Auckland and Emberton, bounded south by main branch of the River
Connecticut. A tolerably large settlement has been formed on Indian Stream and River
Connecticut by persons from the United States, who claimed to have commenced their
settlement in 1792, under the auspices and by virtue of a proclamation of Sir Alured
Clark, at that time Governor-in.Chief. The settlement consists of 20 families, who have
made extensive improvements and are respectably settled. The land which these persons
occupy forms one of the points in dispute between Her Majesty’s Government and the
United States. Population about 6o. The principal settler is a Dr. Taylor, who occupies
1,000 acres, 100 of which are cleared. This gentleman has a good house and distillery.
The township is watered by Indian Stream and Hall's Stream, also by Back Lake and
other small lakes. There is a private school, with 12 to 15 scholars.”

These townships, as fast as they were laid out, or projected, were named by the Government
officials, the names being taken from men and places in England. For that reason, no local
causes can be found for the different names. The present City and County of Sherbrooke derived
its name, in 1818, from Sir John Sherbrooke, then Governor-General, who is said to have
visited the village at that time. There is no authentic record of his ever having made the
visit. Previous to that time it was known as the Lower Forks, and Lennoxville had the
name of Upper Forks. This was due to the junction of the St. Francis River with the
Magog and Massawippi rivers, at the respective places.

In those early days, the market of Compton County and other places near the St. Francis
River was at Three Rivers. In the winter time, a good road was kept open on the ice, while
in the summer the carrying of goods to Three Rivers and returning with supplies for the
settlers, by means of boats on the St. Francis River, was a business by itself. The principal
product sold by the settlers was pearl-ash, which brought about $12 per cwt. in Three Rivers
or Montreal, and $5 at the pearl-ashery. It was made from hard wood ashes, elm being
considered the most productive. The ashes were put into leaches holding about six bushels
each, wet down with hot water, the lye running into a trough at the bottom. This was
continued until the strength was all out of the ashes. The lye was then put through a
process similar to sap in the making of maple-sugar: being boiled down to salts. The
latter were dried down, or what was called scorched. When done, they were of a
brown or sunuff color. After this, they were put into an oven, something similar to those
used in bakeries, and a fire kept going, while a man was continually stirring the salts
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until they became white, like chalk. When cool, they were ready to barrel up for market.
The pearl-ash was used in place of soda or baking-powder. Potash was made by boiling
the salts down till; when cool, they were like crystal.

In inaking the trips down the St. Francis River to Three Rivers, Brompton Falls
was the worst place that the boatmen had to contend with. It was always necessary to
“carry by " in both directions, while the stories of accidents and mnarrow escapes were
numerous with those who used to go up and down the river. During the war of 1812-15
most of the supplies for the settlers in this region were obtained in this way, as for a
certain period no communication was allowed with the neighboring States. It was during
one of these trips that a most melancholy and afflictive accident occurred, in 1815, when
two lives were lost at Brompton Falls. Three persous from Eaton, named respectively John
French, John Hurd, and Lebourveau, were on an expedition down the St. Francis.
At the falls the freight was removed, and the three men remained to pass down with the
boat. Unfortunately, it struck a rock and capsized, when French sank at once; Hurd was
seen to strike out for the shore, and, being an expert swimmer, hope was entertained by
those on the bank that he might be saved, but from some cause he too sank and was
drowned. Lebourveau at first sprang upon a rock, to which he continued clinging as he saw
his companions drowning, but could neither save them--nor yet help himself, till a rope
was thrown from the shore, which he fastened around his waist, when, plunging into the
boiling current, he at first disappeared, but was finally drawn to land.

About 1815 efforts were started to have Buckingham County subdivided, so as to give
representation to the Euglish-speaking residents in the Townships. The French seigniories,
near the St. Lawrence River, had a much larger population; and the result was that they
always elected both representatives to the Legislative Assembly. The mneed of better
accommodation for legal and judicial purposes was also felt by the settlers in these Townships,
for the nearest court was at Three Rivers or Montreal. Down to 1830 all registration of
deeds had to be done at Three Rivers.

In 1823 the Inferior District of St. Francis was created, with appeals to either Montrexl
or Three Rivers. The dividing of Buckingham County and representation in the Assembly,
was not granted until 1829, when it was divided into the six counties of Yamaska, Lotbinicre,
Megantic, Nicolet, Drummond and Sherbrooke, and thus was Buckinghan County legislated
out of existence.




CHAPTER V.
SHERBROOKE COUNTY,

1829-1853.

County of Sherbrooke was created, being one of six counties into which Buckingham

County had been subdivided. This Act says: * The County of Sherbrooke shall
contain the townships of Garthby, Hatford, Whitton, Marston, Clinton, Woburn, Stanhope,
Croyden, Chesham, Adstock, Lingwick, Weedon, Dudswell, Bury, Hampden, Ditton, Emberton,
Drayton, Auckland, Newport, Westbury, Stoke, Ascot, Eaton, Hereford, Compton, Clifton,
Windsor, Brompton, Shipton, Melbourne, and Oxford, together with all gores or augmenta-
tions of the said townships.” Practically, these townships comprised the present counties
of Richmond, Wolfe, Sherbrooke, and Compton. These townships were all in the District
of Three Rivers, and with the exception of Croyden aud Whitton, in the Inferior District
of St. Francis.

The following is a statistical statement, for December, 1827, of the territory above
described, and, in 1829, known as the County of Sherbrooke: Population, 5471; churches—
England, 2, parsonages, 2; Catholic, 1, presbytery, 1. ‘Three villages. Total number of
houses in towns and villages, 110; 1 court house, 1 gaol, 9 schools; mills—-16 corn, 30
saw, 4 carding, 4 fulling; 2 distilleries, 2 tanueries, 11 potash factories, 11 pearl-ash factories,
2 shop-keepers, 5 taverns, 54 artisans. Territorial extent, 2,786 square miles; waste lands,
706 square miles; extreme length, 68 miles; breadth, 57 miles. Rank of county with others
in Lower Canada: Population, 32nd; territorial extent, 14th; agricultural production, 17th.

The produce of Sherbrooke County in 1827, on an average for three years: Wheat,
80,871 bushels; oats, 62,910 bushels; barley, 3,619 bushels; peas, 18,280 bushels; rye, 19,043
bushels; buckwheat, 2,291 bushels; Indian corn, 13,260 bushels; mixed grain, 3,180 bushels;
maple sugar, 709 cwts.; potatoes, 103,119 bushels; hay, 30,500 tons; flax, 381 cwts.; butter,
2,009 cwts.; horses, 3,161 oxen, 3,872; cows, 5,408 ; sheep, 11,836; swine, 4,095 ; cloth, 24,233
French ells; flannel and home spun, 20,100 Freich ells; linen, 35,400 French ells. Of the
land there were 395 acres of loam; 10,180 acres under crop; 19,940 acres fallow and meadow ;
total in culture, 30,120 acres.

In those early days the Government tried to further the culture of hemp throughout the
townships. The following letter speaks for itself:

B\' ACT of Parliament, 9 George 1V, Chap. 73, assented to 5th October, 1829, the

“Ascor, February 26, 1828.
“ Josern BoucHETTE, Esq., Surveyor-General :

 Sir,—Agreeable to your request on the subject of the culture of hemp in the townships,
I can safely say that if a ready market for it was established in the province, and within
reach of the township settlements, I have no doubt it would be raised on an extensive scale,
and become an object of profit both to the inhabitants of the country as well as to Great
Britain. I have a knowledge of the late Mr. Pennoyer, of Compton, raising five to seven
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tons of hemp, and who had commenced a manufacturing mill for preparing hemp, but he
failed by adopting a wrong method for its preparation for market. Several others did also
cultivate hemp at that time; but, no market being found, the culture was in consequence
discontinued. The townships generally are particularly calculated for the culture of hemp,
and I trust the time may come when it will be cultivated on an enlarged scale. Many of
the inhabitants of the townships make their own bed, cords, and ropes for their use.

[ am your obedient, humble servant,

Cuas. F. H. Goobnve.”

The first elections for Sherbrooke County were held in 1829, and Messrs. Benj. Tremain
and Samuel Brooks were elected. A full political history of the county, down to the present
day, will be found elsewhere, under a separate chapter.

In 1830 the Registry Office was opened at Sherbrooke, previously to that time all work
of this kind having to be done at Three Rivers. In 1833 the District of St. Francis was
created, the name, Inferior, being dropped.

Under date of June, 1833, Samue! Brooks, Esq., of Lennoxville, gave the following
information, in answer to questions submitted to him, and which was afterwards published
by the British American Land Company: * We generally have snow sufficient for sleighing
from 20th November to the 15th March. Good farm horses are worth from £7 10s. to L15;
oxen, the pair, same price; cows, from £2 10s. to £6 55 ; ploughs, £2 10s. to £3 10s.;
ox carts, £7 10s. to L10; waggons, £7 10s. to L15. There are about 3,000 casks of pot
and pearl ashes manufactured annually in the Townships. The price of butter is from 6d. to
od.; cheese, from 4d. to 6d. Salmon are plenty in the season, say July, August, and
September.  Plenty of black-bass, trout, pike, pickerel, and maskinonge. Abundance of moose-
deer, bears, rabbits, partridges, water fowl, &e.  From Staustead, to and from Montreal, freight
usually is £'5 per ton, each way; from Lennoxville or Sherbrooke to Three Rivers or Sorel,
will average about £'3 15s. per ton, each way. There are in the County of Sherbrooke
about seventy primary or clementary schools, and two high schools: one at Sherbrooke, the
other at Shipton. The clementary schools are principally supported by legislative grants—-
420 per annum to each,—and the high schools partly in the same manwver.”

Tue Brrrisu AMERICAN Laxp Company # has done much to settle and improve this
part of the Eastern Townships, and for this reason we here give a synopsis of its origin and
history to date. This Company has its head office in Sherbrooke, and owes its origin to the
successful establishment of the Canada ILand Company in Upper Canada.

In the Company's office in London, Eng., there is on record the report of a Provisional
Committee, dated sixth February, 1832, recommending the immediate establishment of the
British American Land Company. In this report it stated that in or about the year 1825
two independent committees, neither having any knowledge of the intentions of the other
(one in Montreal, the other in London, Eng.), proposed the establishment of a company in
Lower Canada, similar in character to the Canada Company, which had been successfully
launched in Upper Canada. The Montreal Committee deputed the Hon. W. B. Felton
(a member of the, then, Legislative Council) to visit London, and furnished him with letters
of credence to gentlemen in London connected with the colony, in the hope of interesting some

* The following sketch is derived largely from information kindly furnished by Dr. R. W. Heneker, of Sherbrooke.
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of them in the formation of a company. Mr. Felton found on his arrival a committee
already in existence for this very purpose, and a coalition took place between the two bodies.
This led to definite arrangements being made for the formation of a company on the basis
of the Upper Canada Company. Negotiations were at once entered into with His Majesty’s
(King George 1V.) Government, and proper arrangements made. Indeed, the whole business
was proceeding satisfactorily in every way when the disastrous financial events of 1825 put
a stop, for a time, to the carrying out of the scheme. Meanwhile the success of the
operations of the Canada Company produced a favorable effect, and offered great inducemeats
to the renewal of the scheme when the proper time should arrive. At length, in 1832, the
matter was again taken up and a prospectus issued.

In this prospectus we find: “T'he objects of this company are to purchase or obtain
grants and possession of lands from His Majesty’s Government, corporate bodies or individuals
in the Province of Lower Canada, * * % for the purpose of opening roads, building
bridges, erecting mills, ete,, and preparing lands for occupation, and disposing of such lands
by sale, lease, or otherwise, to emigrants and others. The joint stock of the Company shall
consist of /500,000, to be raised in 10,000 shares of £50 each. No individual to be allowed
to subscribe for more than 100 shares nor less than five shares.” This prospectus was
signed by G. R. Robinson, chairman, and Johu Galt, honorary sccretary.

It is necessary now to return to the proceedings in Canada.  News had reached the Colony
of the steps taken to form the Company, and on the 15th October, 1832, a meeting was held
in Leunoxville favoring the scheme. Messrs. Shubael Pierce, J. C. Gillman, E. Bacon, John
Lebourvean and Thomas Gordon, were appointed a Committee to communicate with the
Company and assure them of the co-operation and support of the inhabitants of Sherbrooke
County. At the same time petitions from the St. Francis District were presented to the
Legislature in favor of the scheme.

In the minutes of the Court of Directors of the Company, June 1z, 1833, mention is made
that Mr. Samuel Brooks (father of Mr. Justice Brooks), who had been sent from the Eastern
Townships of Lower Canada, appeared and gave general information as to the state of these

townships.

On December 3, 1833, negociations had proceeded that far that the British American
Land Company, in England, issued a pamphlet for the purpose of interesting emigrants. We
take the following extracts from same:

“ His Majesty's Government having agreed to sell to the B. A. I. Company the Crown
Reserves and other Crown Lands in the southern counties of Stanstead, Shefford and Sherbrooke,
in the Eastern Townships of Lower Canada, the Company is in progress of making arrangements
for commencing the sale and settlement of the same in the ensuing spring.

*1st.—Crown Reserves and surveyed Crown lands. About 231,000 acres, situated in the
counties of Shefford, Stanstead and Sherhiooke. These lands are sitnated for the most part in
detached lots of farms of 200 acres e.ch, scattered throughout the settled parts of the country,
and from their contiguity to mills, shops, schools and churches, are exceedingly eligible for
settlement.  In many of the townships several of these lots lic together, so that settlers and
emigrants may purchase larger farms trom g4oo and upwards of a thousand acres in extent.

“2nd—The St. Fraucis Territory, containing about 596,000 acres, in the County of
Sherbrooke.  This large tract of land is comprised in the townships of Garthby, Stratford,
Whitton, Weedon, Lingwick, Adstock, Bury, Hampden, Marston, Dilton, Chesham, Emberton
and Hereford, and is situated between the upper waters of the St. Francis and Lake Megantic.

“ By the agreement between His Majesty’s Government and the Company, upwards of
£50,000 of the purchase money to be paid by the latter are to be expended on public works
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and improvements in that part of the Provinee in which the lands sold to them are situated.
The public works and improvements are high roads, bridges, canals, market houses, school
houses, churches, and parsonage houses, and any other works undertaken and caleulated for
the common use and benefit of His Majesty's subjects.”

In addition to the purchase from the Government, the Company subsequently acquired a
very large quantity of lands at Government Auction  sales, and from private individuals
as well as the town property of Sherbrooke, bringing up the total quantity to 1,094,272
acres, and including  with  wild lands, many improved farms and town properties.  The
management consisted of a Court of Directors in London, Eng., who appointed Commissioners
in Canada.

The first of these Commissioners were the Hon. Peter MceGill, and the Hon., Geo.
Moffatt, merchants, of Montreal, who acted jointly.  Their appointment is dated 1oth July,
1834, They were, botli of them, gentlemen of the highest character, well-known and respected
both in Canada and in England.  Subsequently, in February, 1835, Mr. Arthur C. Webster
was appointed by the two Commissioners to act as their attorney for the administration of
the property.  The power of attorney instituting Mr. Webster is witnessed by * A. ‘I Galt”
(the future statesman), who was at the time a clerk in the office of the Company.

During Mr. Webster's time the business of settlement was carried on with great vigour,

1

it

Immigrants in great numbers settled in Bury, and the Highland settlements in Lingwick were
established.  The Improvement Fund was expended in the opening of roads, the building of
bridges, the erection of churches, all under the direct authority and sanction of the Governor-
Greneral of Brivush North America.  Lands were cleared and houses built for settlers, and even
provisions furnished to incoming settlers, enabling them to live until they became accustomed
to the new ways required to make a living in a new country, and the outlay of the Company
was most lavish,

The income of the Company bore no proportion to the outlay, and the claims of the
Government for principal and interest on the unpaid portion of the property could not be met.
The rebellion of 1837-S also told against the Company, so that at last they were compelled to
enter into negociations with Lord Sydenham, and in 1841 abandoned the whole of the great
block of the St. Francis ‘Territory, comprising the unsurveyed purchase. It was a severe blow
to the prosperity of the Company, buc it could not be helped.  After the cession of the St.
Francis Territory, the Canadian Government gave away free tracts to scttlers, drawing them
from the British American Land Company's lands, after sales had been made, and in many
cases houses built, lands cleared, and provisions given to these men. Not only was the loss
great, but the Company became unpopular, and were charged with monopoly, and wrong doing,
for not following the Government example in giving away their property.

The agreement with Lord Sydenham is dated July sthy, 1841, the Company's Commissioner
at the time being John Fraser, who succeeded Mr. Webster in 1837, During Mr. Fraser's
management the Company did not prosper. The years of rebellion were disadvantageous to
immigration, and political strife raged throughout the country. Mr. Fraser was succeeded in
office by Mr. (afterwards Sir) A. T. Galt, one of the greatest statesmen which Canada has
produced. His commission is dated April 18, 1844, and from the date of his appointment signs
of revival in the affairs of the Company were apparent. Mr. Galt may be said to have been
the main instrument in the building of the railway from Montreal to Portland, now the Grand
Trunk. Soon after the completion of the railway Mr. Galt found that Lis time was so much
taken up with public affairs and large private business that he retired from the Company in
1855, when the present Commissioner, R. W. Heneker, was appointed, and has continued since
to perform the duties of the office for the space of 41 years. Mr. Heneker is a man of wide
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experience, exceptional executive ability, and high education. He is sought after throughout
the Province for positions of honor and trust,

It has been above stated that the Company's property comprised at one time 1,094,272
acres. In 1841 they renounced 511,447 acres, leaving as a remainder 582825 acres. The
present holding, as per the Company's Balance Sheet, December 3ist, 1895, is 119,499 acres,
showing that they have so far disposed of 463,326 acres to settlers and others.

I'his brief narrative would not be complete without a reference to what has been done
in developing the town plot of Sherbrooke.  When this property was first acquired there were
one or two very small industries already established, and it was the policy of the Company
to develop the great water power of the River Magog, and render it available for a high class
of manufactures. ‘T'hey furnished for all the early industries buildings and power on terms of
lease for 15 years, but all their efforts to attract capitalists on an extensive scale were unavailing
until the present Commissioner, in 1866, secured a free gift of land and power on the part
of the Company, when there was established the woolen mills of the Paton Manufacturing
Company. ‘The promoters were Mr. Geo. Stephen, of Montreal (now Lord Mount Stephen),
the Hon. John Henry Pope, M.P., of Cookshire, and Licutenant.Colonel Benj. Pomroy, of Compton,
They were ably assisted by the Commissioner, Mr. Hencker. The services of the late Mr.
Andrew Paton as manager were secured, and the new mills went into operation in 1867,
Later, in 1871, it was greatly enlarged. 'The mills were still further enlarged later by the
erection of a worsted mill, and now employ over 700 hands.

Besides the above, sales of land and water power have been made to some six or eight other
companies, while shops and mills have been built and leased for other manufacturing purposes.

The Company, having been in existence for over 6o years, is gradually winding up its
business, which, however, cannot be done suddenly. Iis early history was no doubt very
unprofitable, but of late years some return has been received on its capital; the sanguine
anticipations of its founders have, however, never been realized.

During the Papineau troubles of 1837-38, the County of Sherbrooke remained loyal to
the Government and furnished voluunteers.

On August 9, 1842, the treaty between Her Majesty’s Government and the United
States, was signed at Washington. This settled the boundary between the two countries,
which had been in dispute for years. The terms of the treaty as referring to that part
of the Southern boundary of the present County of Compton, were as follows: *From the
Metjarmette Portage, thence down along the said highlands which divide the waters that
empty themselves into the River St. Lawrence from those which fall into the Atlantic
Ocean, to the head of Hall’s Stream; thence down the middle of said stream, till the
line thus run intersects the old line of boundary, surveyed and marked by Valentine and
Collins, previously to the year 1774, as the 4s5th degree of north latitude.” By this treaty
Sherbrooke County lost the townships of Drayton and Croydon.

In 1840, at the union of Upper and Lower Canada, the town of Sherbrooke was created
an electoral district, with same boundaries as the present electoral county of Sherbrooke.

In 1853 it was decided that the County of Sherbrooke should have better representation
in Parliament, and out of it was created the counties of Compton, Richmond and Wolfe. The
town of Sherbrooke, including Ascot and Orford, was part of Compton County for all purposes
except electoral. The division stood thus until 1871 when the County of Sherbrooke was
again established.

For municipal purposes only the Township of Compton was added to Sherbrooke. Their
first county council meeting was held June 14, 1871, present: J. G. Robertson, mayor of
Sherbrooke ; Robinson Oughtred, mayor of Ascot; and Hiram Moe, mayor of Orford.
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Compton Township was first represented at the March meeting, in 1872, by A. W. Kendrick,
Esq J. G. Robertson, Esq., was chosen warden, and J. R, Woodward, secretary-treasurer,

Sherbrooke was changed from a village to a town in 1852, the first sitting of the council
being held on August 14.  The members of the Council present at that meeting were: Geo,
F. Bowen, mayor, J. G. Robertson, John Griffith, Leonidas Goodall, Adam ILomas, Oliver
Camiran, and Albert P. Ball. T'he present secretary-treasurer, Wm. Griffith, was then chosen
and has held the position since that time. Sherbrooke received its charter as a city 24th
December, 1875.




CHAPTER VI
Comrron CouNtTyv.
1853 — 1896.

OMPTON County derived its name from the township of Compton. When the Townships
C were first surveyed they we e all named by British officials, then in this country, after men

and places in England,

By Act of Parliament, 16 Victoria, cap. 152, art. 41, assented to 14th June, 1853, the county
of Compton was created, having previously formed part of Sherbrooke county. By this Act we
find: “The county of Compton shall be bounded on the east by the county of Beauce, on the
southeast by the limits of the Province, on the northwest by the counties of Wolfe and Sherbrooke
and the town of Sherbrooke, and on the southwest by the western and southern limits of the
township of Compton, and the western limits of the township of Hereford; the said County
so bounded comprising the townships of Compton, Westbury, Eaton, Clifton, Hereford, Bury,
Newport, Auckland, Lingwick, Hampden, Ditton, Winslow, Whitton, Marston, Chesham, and
part of the township of Clinton.” In this county, until 1871, was included the electoral
division of the town of Sherbrooke, for municipal purposes,  Cookshire is the chef-lien.
Compton county always offered exceptional advantages for farming, and has been built up by
its agricultural products. Here may be found some of the finest farms in Canada, and
as progressive farmer: as can be found on the American continent. Here also has been
raised thoroughbred stock of such quality and breeding as to command the highest prices, for
shipment to all parts of the world.

The increase in population has been rapid, still of a safe nature, showing gradual growth.
In 1871 the population was 13,665; in 1881, 19,581 ; and in 1891, 22,779.

The early settlers of Compton county all came from the United States, and it was not
uutil about 1835 that immigration from other places became noticeable. At the time of the
organization of the British American Land Company, in 1833, no settlements in the County
had been made east of Eaton, and in fact no bridge crossed the Eaton River, giving access to
the easthern part of the County until one was built at Cookshire by this Company in 1836.
In that year they commenced to bring in settlers from England and other parts. Their first
venture was not a success.

In 1836 the British American Land Company built up a village known as Victoria,
situated about ome and a half miles west from Scotstown, on the Salmou River. Nearly
one hundred families were brought over by the Company, and located, partly near this village,
and others through the township of Bury. There were between one hundred and two hundred
inhabitants in the village, which consisted of over thirty houses, a saw mill, a large building
used as a church, school house, and office of the Company’s agent, Mr. Hardwood, also two
or three stores. The houses were built of logs, sheathed with fine and good sawed boards
for flooring, gable ends, partitions, and shingled. I'he Company paid the passage over of
these settlers, and supplied them with provisions the first year. The flour was brought down
by boat from Upper Canada to Port St. Francis, and carted from there to Victoria by teams

3
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from the old French settlements. Besides good wheat flour, these first settlers had also pork,
sugar, tea, rice; in fact, they “lived on the fat of the land.” There was located at Victoria
as well as sung by a local bard at the time, a “ Dr. Hardon, gentleman, to keep them all
alive,”  The settlers were also provided by the Company with clothing, kitchen utensils,
axes and grub hoes, and a man was sent to show them how to use the grub hoes, build
cabins, fell trees, and pile and burn them.

Some of those early immigrants would not and did not work, but others fell in quickly
with their changed surroundings and made good farmers, Provisions were so plentiful that
dough made from the flour given them was used to plaster their houses, instead of clay.

Fair crops were raised by some the first season about Victoria, but they soon saw that
the soil was poor. At the close of the first year's work it was rumored that the Company
intended to make all pay for the provisions advanced, as well as the passage over, and a
good price for their farms. On this becoming known there was a general exodus from the
place; and the village of Victoria, that had seemed so promising and prosperous, was deserted
by all but five or six families, and in a short time no one was left but one Dutchman by the
name of Christopher Rochart and his family. About a year after Rochart and his eldest son
were drowned in the Salmon River, being carried over the falls. The grave can still be seen
on the bank, overgrown with bushes and a second growth, while a cedar stake stands at the head.

Some of the Scotch imumigrants later on were tempted to settle in Victoria, but when
they saw the poor soil and heard the Company's terms, after a few weeks residence the
ill-fated village was the second time deserted. ‘The money here expended was a total loss.
Some years after the bricks in the high chimney of the old church were carried to Gould
and used in building the Presbyterian church and manse at that place. It is also said that
when the Scotch settlers wanted nails they would go to Victoria, burn down one of the
houses, and, after cooling off, pick the nails out of the ashes.

The place where the once brisk village of Victoria stood is again a forest, and but few
traces can be seen of its ever having been settled, or that there stood the first village
erected in Compton county, east of Cookshire.

The British American Land Company, profiting by experience, did not again attempt
immigration on so large or expensive a scale. The first Scotch immigrants were eight families
who came from the Island of Lewis, in 1838, and settled in Lingwick. T'he next Scotch
settlers came in 1841, and for fifteen or twenty years after, these were increased by accessions
from Scotland, until to-day there are upwards of four hundred and fifty families, distributed
over the townships of Lingwick, Winsiow, Hampden, Marston, and Bury.

Mr. T. Boutillier, Inspector of Agencies, in his report to the Legislative Assembly, in
1855, ~peaking of Compton, said: *‘The settlements have made rapid progress in Winslow;
more than fifty families have come to reside since last year. The progress of agriculture
and commerce, however, was but slow until the British American Land Company was
formed, about twenty years ago. * * * With the exception of the places over which
the operations of the Company had some influence, the Eastern Townships, with but few
exceptions, remained in a stationary condition.”

On the twenty-fifth of August, 1869, the Registry Office for Compton county was
established at Cooksue. Hereford and West Clifton were detached October thirty-first,
1888, and added to the Coaticook Registry Office.

Through the good report of the late Rev. Thomas W. Constable, Methodist minister
at Sawyerville, from 1858 to 1860, the present Registrar of the County, Mr. E. S. Orr, was
influenced to leave his native county, Argenteuil, and settle in Sawyerville. He came to
Sawyerville in October, 1859, and spent several days visiting Cookshire, Eaton and East
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Clifton. He was convinced that the land was of good quality, and noticed, particularly, the
large tracts fit for settlement, but which were covered with timber, In May, 1860, he
rented the store in Sawyerville, where the post office is now kept, afterwards purchased and
still owned by him, Mr. Orr was so well pleased with the outlook that he used his efforts
to have others come from Argenteuil county and settle here. In that county there was a
section known as the North Gore, now Lakefield, where the land was rather rough, being a
thin covering over laurentian rocks. ‘I'he younger part of the community were restless and
dissatisfied with their surroundings. Some of them had gone to Ontario, and the Western
States (we had then no Canadian Northwest).  Mr. Orr says: ‘I thought it would be
well to try to induce them to come here, I felt sure it would be to their advantage, and they
were well suited to become settlers in this county.,” A circular letter was addressed to
them, and in response, in the fall of the year, Messrs. Edward Graham, John ILee, aund
Thomas Johuston, came to investigate. To the land mnow forming the High Forest
settlement they were attracted, and made arrangements to set'le. They were followed at
intervals by many others. They were mostly, if not entirely, people of religious principle
and good morals. Some of them had some means to begin with, while others had but
little. They have helped to improve the County, some settlements having been made by
them almost entirely. Some have died, others have gone away, but the majority are yet
here, many of them wellto-do, and some of them comparatively wealthy. Mr. Orr says:
“None of them ever reproached me for inducing thein to come.”

The following are the names of some of the families who settled in the County, coming
from Argenteuil, in addition to those mentioned: Alexander Johnson, who lived several
years near Sawyerville, and left some years ago for the West; the late James Hamilton,
with his wife, and their sons, John, Matthew, Joseph and William, and three or four
daughters; Matthew and Joseph Boyd, with their father Valentine; Matthew and James
Christie, with their father, William John; William Gordon and wife; William Hammond
and wife; Robert, Samuel, and John Kerr, and Robert Kerr, senior, and wife; James and
Richard Elliott and their wives; William and James Miller, with their families; some
families of the name of Seale; some Westgates, Wilsons, and Bryants; Jesse Renny and
his aged mother; Richard Graham and family; Mark Berry and wife, both deceased—
they had a large family; John Burns and wife, with a numerous family ; Edward
Parker, a widower, with several sons and daughters; the late Wm. Smith, J. P., of
Sawyerville, and wife, and their venerable sister, now about mninety years of age, blind
from her childhood; Richard Dawson and wife; some families of the name of Wood.
The Island Brook settlement contains several of the families here mentioned. George M.
Orr, a brother of Mr. E. S. Orr, came to Cookshire and traded for some time. Later he
moved to Calgary, N. W. T\, and is at present mayor of that place. The movement to this
County from Argenteunil has, perhaps, not yet ceased. Within a few years Messrs. Burwash,
King, and McAllister have moved from Dalesville to Newport.

At about this same time Mr. Joseph Lowry, of Leeds, Que., was a delegate to a
Methodist District Meeting, held at Cookshire. He was so impressed with the advantages
offered for settlement that on his return there was about as large and, perhaps, as important
an immigration from St. Sylvestre, Megantic county, and other places in that vicinity. Some
of the names, now familiar, of those settlers, are the Mackays, Macraes, Coopers, Flaws,
Edwards, McVetys, etc.

There was another class of immigrants came into the County about 1861. They were
known as ‘‘Skedaddlers.” This word is given in the Standard Dictionary as slang,
meaning to flee, to run away in haste, etc. It is of American origin, and, though once very



(U HISTOR)Y OF COMPTON COUNTY

familiar in this county, is wnow mnearly forgotten, During the rebellion between the
Northern and Southern States, a considerable number of people from Maine and other
Eastern States, being Democrats, and not in sympathy with the Republican party, which
was carrying on the war, removed to the Eastern Townships. Compton county, lying on
the fromtier, reccived a good many of them. They thereby cscaped the compulsory draft,
It was, no doubt, with sad hearts, and at considerable sacrifice of comfort, that they took
their way to a strange country. Among them were many respectable people, possessed of
some means. They brought their ' States money " with them and had to part with it, at the
rate of 83 for $2, to procure the necessaries of life. Some were poor and had to cast about
for means of support. Many of them had been *shingle weavers,” and took to shingle
making. Split shingles are now a very scarce article; then they were plenty enough, of
various qualities, good, bad, and indifferent, as the skill of the makers varied. When the
war closed most of the ** Skedaddlers” returned to where they came from, some of them
between sunset and sunrise, leaving accounts scattered about as a slight memento of their
visit to Canadian soil. A few of those who came to the County during the war purchased
property and remained here, making good citizens.

Previous to 1870, the proportion of French-Canadians to English-speaking residents, in
Compton county, was small.  About that time colonization societies were formed through
the Province, assisted by the Government, for the purpose of influencing French-Canadians
who had gone to the United States to return and settle in their native country. ‘T'hree of
these societies obtained land in this county, and from that time the growth of French-
Canadians has been gradual. The principal townships benefitted by this immigration, were:
Auckland, Ditton, Emberton, Chesham, Clinton, South Marston, and part of Hereford.
Lake Megantic Village, North Winslow, and North Whitton, have also been settled by this
nationality. The population of the two latter municipalitics is more of an overflow from the
old French parishes on the Chaudi¢re. The increase of French-Canadians has been such
that they now number nearly half the population.

In Compton county there are still left many thousand acres of land available for
settlement, and in many parts good land. The hundreds of acres that are being cleared
annually by the lumber companies can be purchased at a very low price. Compton county
does mnot, by any means, offer good farms to all, for at least one quarter of its land is not
adapted to agricultural pursuits. Notwithstanding this a large portion is capable of being
farmed at a profit equal to any in the ecastern part of the American continent.

Lumbering and farming are the principal occupations in the County. In 1891, there
were fifty-five saw mills. They had a fixed capital in land of $263,020; in buildings,
$84,320; in machinery and tools, $168,130; working capital, $381,076. These fifty-five mills
employed five hundred and thirty-nine hands, and paid out in wages during the year, $92,371.

The total number of industrial establishments in Compton county is two hundred and
thirty-two. Fixed capital in land, $360,570; in buildings, $245,307; in machinery and tools,
$338,753; working capital, $889,123. These two hundred aund thirty-two establishments
employ nine hundred and thirty-six men, forty women, eighty-nine boys, and thirteen girls.
Total amount paid in wages during the year 1890, $254,965; total value of raw material,
$568,108; total value of articles produced, $1,197,165.

Until 1891 Compton county was always supplied in the way of local newspapers from
Sherbrooke.  On December 31, 1875, a paper was started at Cookshire, known as the
Canadian Independent, and Home Journal. A. N. Donahue was the editor and proprietor.
For two or three weeks only was it issued, when the office was closed up owing to lack of
funds. On February 25, 1891, the first issue of the Compton County Chronicle was printed.
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T'he office was opened in Mrs, Willard's block, corner of Railroad and Pleasant streets. A
first-class plant for doing printing of all kinds was installed, and from the first the paper
was a success, ‘T'he promoter, editor and publisher, was Mr. L. S. Chanunell. During the
summer and fall of 1892, Mr. Channell erected an office and private dwelling on Main street,
and, in December of 1892, the Chronicle was issued from its new quarters, On January 1,
1896, Mr. Channell sold a half interest in the paper to Mr. L. E. Charbonnel, advocate,
of Sherbrooke, when a partuership was formed under the name of the Chronicle Printing
Company. ‘I'he paper is now issued by this company, under the management of Mr,
Charbonnel. It has met with general acceptance from the public, and may now fairly be
regarded as one of the permanent institutions of the County.

Au incident in the history of Compton county, that took place in 1889, is known as
the Donald Morrison affair. He was a young man, Scotch by birth, who had gone West
and carned some money. He purchased a farm near ILake Megantic, and returning
afterwards attempted to carry it on. In this he was unsuccessful, and finally lost all of his
property. ‘This made him reckless, to such an extent that he became insane over this
special farm. A Frenchman shortly after occupied the place, and while his wife was
winding the clock, one night, a rifle was fired near the window, the bullet passing close to
her head and smashing the face of the clock. “The barns were afterwards burned, and soon
after the house, the occupants barely escaping with their lives. On this a warrant was
issued for the arrest of Morrison, but no one could be found to serve it. Finally a dissolute
fellow, by the name of Warren, from the United States, made threats of what he would do.
He took the warrant, and, learning that Morrison was in Lake Megantic, after bracing
himself with strong liquor, went out to meet him. ‘T'his Warren was armed, as well as
Morrison. As the latter paid no attention to him, Warren started to draw his revolver, when
Morrison shot him dead, afterwards walking quietly out of the village. ILarge sums were
offered for his capture, and heavy penalties proclaimed against all who should harbor him.
Notwithstanding this, months elapsed before he was arrested. The clannish Highlanders
could not be frightened into refusing him aid. ‘The Government was, finally, obliged to
send large numbers of Provincial officers into this section, and for weeks they patrolled the
roads of the Scotch settlements in vain. Donald knew the country perfectly well, and as
more than half was woods, the officers could do nothing. They finally succeeded in
wounding him, one night, when he was escaping from his father's house, and thus was he
captured, after an expense of thousands of dollars. He stood his trial at Sherbrooke, was
sentenced for a long term of years, but did not live long, dying of consumption about five
years after his committal. His body was brought back to his home for burial.

Previous to the establishing of a branch of the People’s Bank of Halifax, at Lake
Megautic, in December, 1893, all the banking business of the county of Compton was done
principally at Sherbrovke. And when in March, 1895, another branch of the same bank
was established at Cookshire, it enabled them to do the banking business for more than
half of Compton county. The general wish of the majority of the people was that they
might have a branch of the Eastern Townships Bank, which wmany of the old settlers had
been largely instrumental in starting. This was, however, refused and gave a chance for
an outside bank to get established and work up a lucrative business.

The People’s Bank of Halifux, 1..S., was incorporated in 1864, with a capital of $200,000.
In 1866 it was increased to $28c,700; in 1867 to $340,000; in 1868 to $400,000; in 1873
to $500,000; in 1874 to $600,000; and in 1892 to $700,000, the present capital. ‘The January
report for 1896 gives the reserve as $175000; total assets, $3,054,000; deposits, $1,600,000 ;
total liabilities, $2,140,000. Surplus over all liabilities, $968,000. The officers are: Patrick
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O'Mullin, president; James Fraser, vice-president; John Knight, cashier; D. R. Clarke,
accountant. Head office, Halifax, N. S. They have agencies at the following places:
Edmundston, N. B., Woodstock, N. B., Shediac, N. B., Fraserville, P. Q., Halifax (north-end),
Canso, N. S., Lunenburg, N. S., Wolfville, N. S, Windsor, N. S., North Sydney, C. B,
Port Hood, C. B., Levis, P. Q., Lake Megantic, P. Q., Cookshire, P. Q., and Qucbec City.

The agencies in Compton county are under the charge of Mr. W. H. Gossip, agent
at Cookshire, with Mr. R. A. E. Aitken acting agent at Lake Megantic.

The Eastern Townships Bank received its charter from the Parliament of Lower Canada,
in 1855, with an authorized capital of #j00,000. They commenced business at Sherbrooke
in August, 1859, with a capital paid up of #136,000. T'o the late Col. Benj. Pomroy, who
was the first president, is due the credit for establishing this bank, ably assisted by the
late Hon. John Henry Pope and other men of prominence in Compton county. ‘I'he bank
at present has a paid up capital of $1,500,000, with a reserve fund of $720,000, and deposits
over $3,000,000. For many years the bank has paid semi-anuunally a dividend of three and
a half per cent. The officers at present are: R. \W. Heneker, president; Hou. M. H.
Cochrane, vice-president; Wm. Farwell, general manager; directors: T. J. Tuck, N. W.
Thomas, Israel Wood, J. N. Galer, Thomas Hart, Garduer Stevens, and John G. Foster.
The bank mnow has branches at Stanstead, Waterloo, Coaticook, Cowansville, Richmond,
Granby, Bedford, Huntingdon, Magog, St. Hyacinthe, and is about opening one in Montreal.
M. S. Edgell is local manager at Sherbrooke.

The following statistics of Compton county are taken from the census returns of
1890-91: Compton county contains 883,400 acres and 1,380 square miles; total population,
22,779 ; families, 4,309 ; dwellings occupied, 4,095 ; average size of families, 35.2; male
population, 12,039 ; females, 10,740; married—males, 3,940; females, 3,036; widowed—males,
290; females, 489: children and unmarried—males, 7,809 ; females, 6,315; French Canadians,
10,335 other nationalities, 12,444.

Religions : Roman Catholics, 11,150; Church of Eungland, 3.232; Presbyterians, ;.561;
Methodists, 2,711; Bible Christians, 11; Brethren, 3; Lutherans, 85; Baptists, 410; Free
Will Baptists, 229 ; Congregationalists, 424 ; Adventists, 473; Universalists, 311 Protestants,
10; Salvation Army, 5; Jews, 14; other denominations, 13; not specified, 137.

Places of birth: Quebec, 19,070; Ontario, 112; Nova Scotia, 28; New Brunswick, 19;
Manitoba, 2; British Columbia, 2; Prince Edward Island, 2; Northwest Territories, 2; Eugland
and Wales, 761; Scotland, 1,077; Ireland, 339; United States, 1,124; Scandinavia, 97; France, 74.

In the County there are 22 blind people, 7 males and 15 females; also 20 who are
deaf and dumb, 11 males and 9 females; of unsound mind, 34.

For the year preceding that in which the census was taken there were 306 deaths in
the County. Of these 10 were Baptists, 177 Roman Catholics, 27 Church of FEngland,
34 Methodists, 36 Presbyterians, and 22 not specified. T'heir occupations were: farmers, 171
commercial, 5; domestic, 6; industrial, 15; professional, 3; laborers, 60; not classed, 46.

Educational status: can read and write—males, 7,254 ; females, 6,696; can only read—
males, 653; females, 688; cannot read or write—males, 4,132; females, 3,336.

Number of churches and boarding schools: total churches, 55—Baptist, 1; Catholic, 14;
Congregational, 2; Church of England, 14; Methodist, 15; Presbyterian, 7; other churches,
2; boarding schools for young ladies, 2; inmates, 22.

Occupiers of lands, and lands occupied: total occupiers, 3,899—owners, 3.639; tenants,
254 ; employés, 6. Total acres occupied, 456,776; acres improved, 200,245; under crops,
120,092 acres; in pasture, 78,554 acres; woodland and forest, 257,531 acres; gardens and
orchards, 1,599 acres.
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in reality dates back only to 1829. In 1792 the first session of the first Parliament

of Lower Canada was opened by Lieut. Governor Clarke. I. A. Panet was chosen
Speaker. The house consisted of 39 knights, 8 citizens and 3 burgesses. The feeling against
the Jews was so strong in those days that in 1808 Ezekiel Hart, Esq., was expelled from the
House of Assembly for professing the Jewish religion. T'he whole of the present county of
Compton was situated in the county of Buckingham, district of Three Rivers, with the
exception of a small part of the township of Compton which was in Richelieu county, district
of Montreal. Buckingham county extended as far as the St. Lawrence River. The population
of the French-speaking people, near the St. Lawrence, was far in excess of all those in the
Townships, even down to 1829. The result was that all candidates were chosen from that
section.  The English-speaking people had to make long journeys if they wished to vote,
and being largely in the minority took no interest whatever in the result. The Rev. Charles
Stewart, D. D.; afterwards Lord Bishop of Quebec, writing in 1815, in a pamphlet issued in
1817, says: ‘“’The people of these townships can scarcely be said to be represented in the
House of Assembly. The counties to which they belong are so large, and the places of election
are, in general, so distant from them, that for the most part they do not take the pains of
giving their votes in tie election of a representative. * * #* The better way of removing this
difficulty would be the formation of new counties.” To give better representation Lower
Canada was further divided into forty counties, by act of 9, George IV, chap. 73, passed in
March, 1829. By this act, Buckingham county was subdivided into the counties of Yamaska,
Nicolet, Drummond, Lotbini¢re, Sherbrooke and Megantic.

Sherbrooke comprised the present counties of Compton, Richmond, Wolfe and Sherbrooke,
and in 1827 had a population of 5,471 souls. Two members were allowed this constituency, and
all votes were cast at the villages of Sherbrooke and Richmond. The basis of representation,
in 1829, was two members for 4,000 and upwards; above 1,000 and under 4,000, one; under
1,000, to vote in mearest county.

On the 19th October, 1829, writs were issued for elections to be held in the counties of
Drummond, Missiskoui, Sherbrooke, Stanstead and Shefford. These counties sent representatives,
for the first time, at this election. The writs were returned by the Clerk of the Crown in
Chancery, 7th December, 1829. The members elected were as follows: Sherbrooke—Charles
Whitcher, returning officer—Benj. Tremain and Samuel Brooks. Stanstead—Wm. Ritchie,
returning officer—Marcus Child and Ebenezer Peck. Shefford—Abijah Willard, returning
officer—Lyman Knowlton. Missiskoui—Philip N. Moore, returning officer—Richard V. V.
Freileigh and Ralph Taylor. Drummond—John L. Ployart, returning officer—Frederick
George Heriot, C. B. These gentlemen were sworn in and took their seats at the third session
of the thirteenth Provincial Parliament, held from 22nd January to 26th March, 1830. The writs

TIIE political history of those townships which now constitute the county of Compton
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for general elections for the fourteenth Provincial Parliament were issued 13th September, 1830,
and returned on the 23rd November. ‘The representatives elected for the county of Sherbrooke
were Charles Frederick Henry Goodhue and Samuel Brooks. At the meeting of the House
of Assembly, sccond session, held at Quebec, 15th November, 1831, the Speaker informed
the House that since the last session Samuel Brooks, Esq., had vacated his scat as member
for the county of Sherbrooke. The act of vacation was as follows: *“On the 18th of July,
1831, before Wm. Ritchie, N. P, residing in Georgeville, 1. C., county of Stanstead, appeared
Samuel Brooks, of the lu\\'nsllip of Ascot, one of the members for the Provinee of Lower
Canada, and declared himself as desirous of availing himself of ‘an act to aliow members of
the House of Assembly to vacate their seats in certain cases, and for other purposes.” Wherefore
Samuel Brooks, for certain good causes, hereby vacates his seat.  Signed in presence of Robert
Vincent and John Grannis, witnesses.” A writ was issued accordingly on 23 Aungust, 1831,
and Bartholomew Conrad Augustus Gugy, Esq., elected in his place for Sherbrooke.  Writs
for general elections were issued 11 October, 1834, and returned 7 January, 1835 Messrs.
B. C. A. Gugy and Col. Johmn Moore were returned for the county of Sherbrooke.

This election through the Province strengthened the hands of those who supported the oppo-
sition to the Lieut-Governor, and which led up to the Papineaun rebellion of 1837-38.  Through
the Townships the majority appears to have been on the side of the Governor. On the 1oth
February, 1838, in the first year of the reign of Queen Victoria, at Montreal, the first meeting of
the Special Couticil of the Province of Lower Canada was held. It was under the presidency of
Lieut-General Sir John Colborne, G.C. B., Administrator of the Government. It was enacted at
this meeting that from the proclamation of this act in Lower Canada until 1st November, 1840, the
Legislative Council or Legislative Assembly shall not be *called together without serious detri-
ment to the interests of said Province.” Hon. Edward Hale, of Sherbrooke, was appointed a
member of the Special Council in 1839, and first took his seat on 11th November of the same year.

In 1841 a union of Upper and Lower Canada was effected, and on a redistribution of seats
the townships of Ascot and Orford, with the village of Sherbrooke, were set off from the
balance of Sherbrooke county, under the electoral name of Sherbrooke Town. Sherbrooke
county comprised the present counties of Compton, Richmond and Wolfe.

For the town of Sherbrooke Hon. Edward Hale represented the constituency during the
two Parliaments from 1841 to 1848, when he was followed by Col. B. C. A. Gugy. This
gentleman was succeeded at the general election of 1851 by Edward Short, who served through
one Parliament and was then elevated to the Bench. Mr. (later Hon. Sir) A. T. Galt was
then clected by acclamation, and was re-elected at cach general election thenceforward to and
including 1867. He was unopposed on each of these occasions except in 1861, when he came
before his constituents as a Minister of the Crown, in the Cartier—-Macdonald Cabinet. His
opponent at that time was W. L. Felton, advocate, of Sherbrooke, who had formerly represented
Richmond and Wolfe. Mr. Galt retired from the representation of Sherbrooke in 1872, and
Edward T. Brooks, son of Mr. Samuel Brooks, formerly member for Sherbrooke county, was
elected without opposition, and in 1874 and 1878 he received repetitions of this compliment
from the electors. Previous to 1871 the town of Sherbrooke had remained part of Compton
county for all purposes, except electoral. In that year the county of Sherbrooke was established,
which included the townships of Ascot, Orford and the village of Lennoxville, and, for municipal
and registration purposes only, the township of Compton and the village of Waterville. Mr. Brooks
was elevated to the Bench in 1882, and succeeded by Rob't N. Hall, a prominent lawyer of
Sherbrooke. Mr. Hall was appointed a judge of the Court of Appeals in 1891, and succeeded by
the present member, Hon. W. B. Ives, Q. C., who was called to the Privy Council in 1891 and
was afterwards Minister of Trade and Commerce in the Cabinet of Sir Mackenzie Bowell.
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The representation of Sherbrooke in the Quebec Legislative Assembly has not been
favored with much variety. Hon. J. G. Robertson, the present post-master at Sherbrooke,
represented the constituency from 1867 to 189z, when he was defeated by the present member,
I.. E. Panneton, advocate,  Mr. Robertson was Treasurer of the province for a number of years.
He was opposed in 1867 by R. W. Hencker, and in 1879 by .Fmneas McMaster.

The county of Sherbrooke, in 1841, comprised the present counties of Compton, Richmond
and  Wolfe. At the general elections, held 14th June, 1841, Col. John Moore was
elected. At the general elections, held 28 November, 1844, Col. Moore was succeeded
by Mr. Samuel Brooks, who was the first member elected for Sherbrooke, in 1829, having
resigned in 1848,  Mr. Brooks was re-elected 25th February, 1841, but by his death in the
following year his seat became vacant. Political feeling then ran very high, in consequence
of the recent passage of the * Rebellion Losses Bill,” and a formidable agitation for annexation
to the United States disturbed the current of politics in this part of the Province. The advocates
of that scheme tendered the nomination for the vacant seat in Parliament to A, T, Galt, then
a young and promising man, employed in Sherbrooke, in the interest of the British American
Land Company. Mr. Galt was elected by acclamation, but resigned his scat soon after for
private reasons, whereupon the annexationists brought out John Sewall Sanborn, then a young
advocate of Sherbrooke. It was at this time that the late Hon. John Henry Pope first took
an interest in politics.  The petitions and speeches being made throughout the County warmed
up his U. E. Loyalist blood to such an extent that he entered the arena with a determination
to defeat Mr. Sanborn.  The Conservative candidate chosen as his opponent was C. B. Cleveland,
a tanner of Richmond, and father of the present member, Mr. C. C. Cleveland. The contest
was a fierce one.  Mr. Sanborn, having the support of the majority of the influential men of
the day, was successful and sat out the balance of that Parliament.  On December 16th, 1851,
another general election occurred, and Mr., Sanborn was again a candidate. This time his
opponent was Mr. J. H. Pope, whom he defeated.

Hon. John Sewell Sanborn, A. M, Q. C., LL. D.; was born in Gilmanton, N. H.,
1st January, 1819. Graduated from Dartmouth College in 1842, and received the degree of
A. M. three years later. The same degree was conferred upon him by Bishop's College,
Lenunoxville, P.Q., in 1855. From the latter institution he also received, in 1873, the honorary
degree of D. C. L., and a year later the honorary degree of LL. D., from Dartmouth College.

On leaving college, Mr. Sanborn came directly to Canada, and became principal of the
Sherbrooke Academy, a position which he held for three years, during which he commenced
the study of law with Mr. Justice Shori, finishing his legal studies with Messrs. A. and W.
Robertson, of Montreal. He was admitted to practice in January, 1847. In 1858 he was
associated in partnership with his brother-in-law, E. T. Brooks, which continued until his
appointment as a judge for St. Francis district in 1873.

Mr. S nborn was in Parliament from 1850 until 1857. He did not again offer himself
for re-election. In 1863, upon the death of the late Homorable Hollis Smith, Mr. Sanborn
was elected by acclamation to represent the division of Wellington, in the Legislative
Council, for the remainder of the electoral term, and re-elected by acclamation to the same
office for the next eight years. While this term was passing, the Act of Confederation was
passed, and he was called by Her Majesty to the Senate of the Dominion in 1867, as one
of the original members of that body, and he continued in this position until 1873, when
he was appointed to the Bench.

His appointment to the office of judge of the Superior Court, on the demise of Judge
Short, was made by his political opponent, Sir John A. Macdonald. When he had
discharged his duties for little more than a year, the Liberals being in power, and a
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vacancy occurring on the Queen's Bench, he was transferred to that court. Three years
later, on 17th July, 1877, his death occurred. He was buried in Mount Royal cemetery, Montreal.

In youth he became a ‘‘tectotaller,” stuck to his pledge all his life, and was at one
time president of the Temperance and Prohibitory [League of this Province.

Judge Sanborn was twice married; first, in 1847, to Eleanor Hall Brooks, daughter of
Samuel Brooks, Esq., of Sherbrooke—a lady of great excellence of character, who died in
1853, leaving three children; and the second time, in 1856, to N. Judson Hazeltine, of
Bradford, Mass., a woman of many mnoble qualities, who died in December, 1874, leaving
one child. Of the three children by the first wife two are living. Elizabeth Maria is the
wife of Thomas J. Tuck, druggist, of Sherbrooke; FEllen Brooks is the wife of Henry D.
Lawrence, advocate, Sherbrooke; Samuel Brooks Sanborn, advocate, died in the fall of
1884. The child by the second wife, Mary Abigail, is unmarried, and resides at Sherbrooke
with her sister, Mrs. Lawrence.

The Sherbrooke Gazette well said of Judge Sanborn:

“ As a private citizen, a lawyer, legislator, and judge, his example is worthy of
imitation, and the world will be all the better, the more closely his example in private and
public life is followed.”

In 1853, by Act of Parliament, several mnew counties were created. In the change
the county of Sherbrooke went out of existence, being sub-divided into the present counties
of Compton, Richmond and Wolfe. At the general elections in 1854, Richmond and
Wolfe were included in the electoral division of the town of Sherbrooke, not choosing a member
of their own until the general clections of 1857-56, when Wm. H. Webb was returned.
The first general election for Compton county, held August 5, 1854, was oune of the
hardest contested ever held in the County. Judge Sanborn, the former representative of
Sherbrooke county, again offered himself as the candidate, and was opposed by Mr. John
Henry Pope, whom he defeated by only eight votes. At the general elections for the sixth
Parliament, Mr. Pope for the third time offered himself for election, and was returned
by acclamation 24th December, 1857, and held the seat by acclamation uutil Confederation.
He was returned by acclamation in 1867, 1871, and 1872. On one of these dates Mr.
Henry Layfield, of Gould, was nominated in opposition to Mr. Pope. He was not strong
physically, and while addressing the electors fainted. His friends intervened and Mr. Layfield
resigned the same day. Mr. Pope entered the Cabinet of Sir John Macdonald, as Minister
of Agriculture, 25th October, 1871, and remained in the Cabinet up to the time of his
death, with the exception of five years, from 1873 to 1878, when the Conservatives were
on the opposition benches. On the 25th September, 1885, the representative for Compton
accepted the portfolio of Railways and Canals, which he held up to his death, April 1, 1889.

Rufus Henry Pope, the present member, succeeded his father, being elected in the fall
of 1889, at a bye-election. He was again returned at the general elections of 1891, and
accepted the nomination of his party for the general elections held during 1896, being
again elected.

The elections held in Compton County for a member of Parliament, since Confederation,
have given the following results:—In 1867, 1871 and 1872, Hon. John Henry Pope,
by acclamation; first election, 1874—candidates, Hon. John Henry Pope and Hugh Egbert
Cairns, of Clifton; Pope received over 8oo majority; election of 1878—candidates, Hon.
J. H. Pope and Hugh Leonard, of Winslow; Pope received about 8oo majority; election of
1882—candidates, Hon. J. H. Pope and H. E. Cairns, poll stood: Pope 1,612, Cairns 823,
majority for Pope, 789; election of 1887—candidates, Hon. J. H. Pope and T. B. Monroe,
of Bury, majority for Pope about 800 ; bye-election of 1889—candidates, R. H. Pope
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and ‘1. B. Monroe, majority for Pope over 8oo ; election of 18gr—candidates, R. H. Pope
and Seth P. Leet, of Montreal; majority for Pope 1066, and Leet lost his deposit of $200,
not having received the minimum proportion of votes required by law.

The elections for a member of the Legislative Assembly at Quebec, since Confederation,
have resulted as follows:-—1867, candidates, James Ross, of Gould, and Alden W. Kendrick,
of Compton, majority for Ross, 194; 1871—candidates, James Ross and W. M. Sawyer, of
Sawyerville, majority  for  Sawyer, 276 1875--Wm. Sawyer, by acclamation; 1878—
candidates, Wi, Sawyer and James Doak, of Compton, majority for Sawyer, 453; 1881—
candidates, Wm. Sawyer and .Fueas MacMaster, of Scotstown, majority for Sawyer, 507;
1886—candidates, John McIntosh, of Compton, and Hugh Leonard, of Winslow, majority
for McIntosh, 720; 18go—candidates, John McIntosh and Geo. Layfield, of Gould, majority
for McIntosh, 770; 1892—McIntosh returned by acclamation. In 1892 Hon. John MecIntosh
took a seat in the DeBoucherville Cabinet. In 1894 he resigned to accept the position of
Sheriff of St. Francis District. At the bye-election of 1894 the candidates were Charles
McClary, of St. Edwidge, and J. B. M. St. Laurent, of Compton; majority for McClary, 688.

Rufus Henry Pope, M. P., was born in Cookshire, Que., September 13, 1857. His father
was the late Hon. John Henry Pope, whose portrait and biography are to be found in this
volume. His parents were descended from old and distinguished families of U. E. Loyalist
stock, and show the carliest records of any settlement in Compton county, having located
in Hercford previous to 1793. Our subject was educated at Cookshire Academy, Sherbrooke
High School, and under a private tutor. He
also studied law at McGill, but his tastes were
in the line of agriculture, and he took posses-
sion of the fine estate, comprising about 1,400
acres, known as ‘ Kast View Stock Farm,”
previously owned aud occupied by his father.
He proved himself a born agriculturist, and
applied his energies to the importation of
thoroughbred stock, making a specialty of the
Polled Angus or Aberdeen Cattle, and has the
credit of introducing this breed into America.
Compton county is celebrated for high-class
farming, and Mr. Pope has ranked foremost
among those who have been instrumental in
raising the standard of agricultural science.

On the death of his father, April 1, 1889,
Mr. Pope was chosen, as their candidate, by
the Liberal-Conservatives of Compton county.
Much against his personal wishes and business
interests he accepted the nomination for the
unexpired term. He was returned with a
handsome majority over Mr. T. B. Munro,
of Bury. At the general elections, in March,
1891, Mr. Pope was again the candidate. His
opponent was Mr. Seth P. Leet, a lawyer from
Montreal, who was defeated by 1,066 majority,
losing his deposit of $200. The Liberal-Con-
servative party, in convention assembled, have

RUFUS H. POPE, M. P.



R IISTOR)Y OF COMPTON COUNTY,

again chosen Mr. Pope as the candidate for general clections of 1896,  Although he expressed
an earnest wish to retire, the party would not hear of it.  He is one of the most popular
members at Ottawa; his independent, genial, outspoken manner, makes friends on all sides,
and gives him unusual strength with the Government.

Outside of farming, Mr. Pope has done more for the employment of labor than any
other man in Compton county. His wealth has always been invested in local enterprises,
assisting his fellow men and building up the country. He was one of the promotors of
the Hereford Railway; is the active partner of the Cookshire Mill Company, managing
director of the Royal Paper Mills Company, and a director of the Paton Woolen Mills
Company, Sherbrooke, Dominion Line Company, Scotstown Lumber Company, Canada
Provident Assurance Company, and several other minor concerns. He has always been very
liberal, assisting those in trouble in an unostentatious manner. Anything that will help
mankind, his town or county, he is always ready to assist with money aud his own labor,

He was married at Lennoxville, Que., September 18, 1877, to Lucy, daughter of Major
C. Noble, of Cookshire. Issue, six children: Lottic Adelle, born August 4, 1879; Beatrice
Ethel, born April 1o, 1881; Desmond Ives, born February 4, 1883; John Henry, born
November 16, 1884; Gladys Clara, born January 7, 1887; Cecil Colin, born December 11,
1888, With views of Cookshire, may be found a photo-engraving of the handsome residence
of Mr. Pope, erected in 1880, known as * Kast View." It is at the top of the hill overlooking
Cookshire, with an cxtensive view for miles both up and down the Eaton river. It is one
of the most attractive homes in the Fastern
Townships.

Charles McClary, M. L. A, farmer, whose
portrait is here reproduced, was born in
Stanstead, March 3, 1833. At Compton, March
28, 1835, he married Jane A. (born August 12,
1832), daughter of the late Andrew McClary.
I[ssue, one son, John Andrew, born June 10,
1868 ; married Luvia L. Woodward, of Hatley ;
1 child, residence Compton.  The father of our
subject came from Epsom, N. H., in 18or,

when nine years of age. He married Betsey
Cass, of Stanstead, whose parents were also
from Epsom. Charles McClary, when 15 years
of age, with his parents moved to Barnston,
where they lived and died. At the age of 22
he moved on to the farm where he now resides.

He was the first settler in the present
municipality of St. Edwidge de Clifton. There
was then no road within six miles. The next
settlers were men who worked for Mr. McClary
and took up adjoining land. By hard work
he has cleared a good farm and erected thereon
large and attractive buildings. He is a man
of strong character, and very popular with
all classes. He has held the office of coun-
cillor for 28 years, mayor for 26 years, and
warden of the County for two terms. On

CHARLES McCLARY, M. L. A,
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the resignation of Hon. John MacIntosh as member of Legislative Assembly for the County,
after several hours' voting, Mr. McClary was unanimously chosen on September 20, 1894, by
the Liberal-Conservative party in convention, as their candidate. He was elected on October
19, 1894, over Mr. J. B. M. St. Laurent, of Compton, with a majority of 688.

For representation in the Dominion Senate, Compton county is in the district known as
Wellington.  Hon, Mathew H. Cochrane, of Compton, was called to the Senate to represent
Wellington, on October 17, 1872. In politics he is Conservative. Senator Cochrane is a native
of this county, having been born at Compton, November 11, 1824. His father, James
Cochrane, was from the north of Ircland, and for many years was merchant, farmer and
cattle-breeder in this province. Matthew lived on the farm until eighteen years old, when le
went to Boston, Mass., and engaged in the shoe business, returning to Canada in 1854, and
engaging in the same business in Montreal. At first he was in company with Samuel G.
Smith, the firm being Smith & Cochrane. Mr., Smith died in 1868. In 1873 Charles
Cassils, a native of Dumbartonshire, Scotland, became a partner of Mr. Cochrane in the
business  The firm of Cochrane, Cassils & Co. employs about three hundred men and women,
and does business to the extent of from $450,000 to $500,000 a year,

In 1864 Mr. Cochrane purchased a large farm at Compton, adjoining the one on which he
was brought up, and commenced farming and cattle-raising.  His place, known as * Hillhurst,”
now contains about one thousand acres, largely rolling land, and almost in one block, with
brooks and springs furnishing an abundance of good water.

When Mr. Cochrane commenced his improvements at Compton, but little had been done
in the way of progress among the stock farmers of this province; and his enterprise in this
direction marks an epoch in this part of Canada. As a pioncer in this line, Mr. Cochrane
began with a determination to have the best specimens of Short Horns that money could
purchase from the best cattle-breeders of the Old World. His first notable purchase was
in 1867, when he imported the famous cow Rosedale. At the same time he also imported
a choice cargo of Cotswold, Southdown, Leicester and Lincoln sheep, Suffolk horses and
Berkshire pigs. * # # Rosedale’s first calf, after coming into Mr. Cochrane’s hands, a
heifer, was sold, when a year old, to an Illinois stock-breeder for $3,500, and re-sold by
the latter, three months later, to Col. King, of Minnesota, for $5,500. The mnext year Mr.
Cochrane paid one thousand guineas for Duchess g7th, by the 3rd Duke of Wharfdale, of
the noted Wetherby herd—the first heifer of her family which had been brought from
England since the great American purchase of 1853. The price which he paid for her is
said to be the highest at that time ever paid for a female Short Horn. At the same time,
among other cattle, Mr. Cochrane also bought, for two huundred and fifty guineas, a fine
Booth animal of striking beauty.

To outdo himself and every other cattle breeder in America, in 1870 Mr. Cochrane
brought into Canada no less than forty heads of Short Horns, the aggregate cost of them,
including a hunting mare, and a lot of Cotswold sheep and Berkshire pigs, amounting to
about $60,000. The extent of his investments, in 1870, had a great influence on the
English Short Horn market.

Mr. Cochrane has from year to year made valuable importations of live stock, having
become known as one of the largest breeders in Canada, if not in America. Of late years
he has devoted more time to horses, and has some valuable Hackneys. In addition to his
extensive farm at Hillhurst, which is under the charge of his son, James A. Cochrane, he
has a large ranch in the Canadian northwest.

The representative in the Dominion Cabinet of the Protestant minority of Quebec
Province is Hon. W. B. Ives, Q. C., of Sherbrooke, minister of T'rade and Commerce. He
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is also a native of this county, having been born in Compton, November 17, 1841. His
parents, Eli and Artemissa (Bullock) Ives, were of English descent, and came to this
country from Connecticut, U. 8., with the U, E. Loyalists.  Mr. Ives began his education in
a common school, near his birth-place, and afterwards attended the Compton Academy for
some four or five years. He subsequently continued his studies privately, and later on
prosecuted the study of law, and was admitted to the Bar in 1867. From 1867 to 1878,
he practiced in Sherbrooke, and was, during that time, created a Q. C. He has had the
honor to be mayor of Sherbrooke and also member for Richmond and Wolfe, redeeming
the County from the Liberals against Henry Aylmer. In 1882, he was re-elected by
acclamation, and in 1887, he had a successful contest with J. N. Greenshields, of Montreal,
and in 1891 was elected for Sherbrooke. In 1879 Mr. Ives became interested in manu-
facturing.  Among other enterprises he is interested in the Paton Mills of Sherbrooke,
president of the Salmon River Pulp Company, at Scotstown, and equal partner with Mr.
R. H. Pope, M. P., in the Scotstown Lumber Company, Cookshire Mill Company, and
Royal Paper Mills Company, of East Angus, director Dominion Line Company, and interested
in the Sherbrooke Gas and Water Company. Mr. Ives built the Hereford Railway, now
operated by the Maine Central Railway. In business he has been signally successful, and it
is considered a guarantee of success to have his name connected with any business enterprise.
He was married, November 17, 1869, to Elizabeth, daughter of the late Hon. John Henry
Pope. Mr. Ives entered Sir John Thompson's Cabinet in December, 1892, as President of the
Council.  On reconstruction, after Sir John ‘T'hompson's death, in 1895, by Sir Mackenzie
Bowell, Mr. Ives took the portfolio of Trade and Commerce, and was called to the same office
by Sir Charles Tupper, when Premier Bowell resigned in April, 1896.
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the first municipal business in the Eastern Townships. The first settlers were a law-

abid’ ¢ people, and as there was no law for carrying on town business, they met together
and organized under their own rules, on the same lines as the law provided in the United
States. Their first meeting was held September 28, 1799, and continued quarterly until
1814, when the organization became disbanded. A moderator or chairman, and a clerk
were chosen each year by election. All the settlers would sign the different rcts agreed
upon. Further particulars of these proceedings are to be found in the history of the
township of Newport.

The first municipal laws in the Province of Quebec went into effect in 1841. The
Province of Ontario, then known as Upper Canada, had a municipal law for several years
previous, which had materially assisted in the development of that province. In Lower
Canada, before the establishment of district councils in 1841, all roads were laid out under
the supervision of the Surveyor General or Grand Voyer. Of municipal business there was none.

Under date of Kingston, U. C., August 6, 1841, the Hon. Edward Hale issued notices
to all of the townships in the District of St. Francis, to elect one councillor to represent
them in the District Courcil, to meet at Sherbrooke.

Under date of 8th September, 1841, the first meeting of the Council of the district of
Sherbrooke, was held in Sherbrooke. The following are those who were returned as eligible
to sit in the Council: G. D. Innes, Brompton; FEros Lebourveau, Eaton; John McConnell,
Hatley ; Shadrac Norton, Barnston; Thos. Tait, Melbourne; Thos. Davis, Dudswell; Patrick
Ivers, Lingwick; Philip Rogers, Stanstead; Benjamin Pomroy, Compton; Samuel Brooks,
Sherbrooke ; Tyler Stafford, Ascot; Chester B. Cleveland, Shipton; Elisha Pope, Hereford;
John Gilman, Stanstead; Thomas Brown, Bury. Those townships in the district of St.
Francis not here mentioned were joined to some of the other townships, in order to make
up the required number of population to send a representative. The Hon. Edward Hale
had been appointed warden by the Lieutenant-Governor, and held that position during the
existence of the District Council. Mr. Jos. S. Walton, editor of the Sherbrooke Gazette,
was accepted by the Lieutenant-Governor as clerk. At the first meeting all necessary rules
and regulations governing the Council, were accepted. By reading the minutes of the
different sessions, which were held quarterly and lasted for several days at a time, it is
evident the principal business transacted was the laying out of roads and building bridges.
Their power, however, reached nearly as far as the Provincial Legislature of the present
day, for they had full charge of the schools, and the right to lay an assessment on
“buildings, personal property, etc.” As far as can be learned, the Sherbrooke District
Council fulfilled their duties in a manner satisfactory to the inhabitants.

In 1847 a change was made in the law, setting off the county of Stanstead into a

T() the township of Newport, in Compton county, is probably due the credit of doing
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separate municipality, and erecting the municipality of Sherbrooke out of the county of
Sherbrooke, which then included the present counties of Compton, Richmond, Wolfe and
Sherbrooke.  In 1845 the law had been changed, creating local municipal councils, of seven
members cach, this being virtually the same as our present law with regard to municipal
and county councils, ‘The first mecting of the municipality of Sherbrooke was held at the
Court House, in Sherbrooke, on Tuesday, October 12, 1847. Present, as members of the
Council, from townships of Orford, Hollis Smith and John Griffith; Ascot, Wm. L. Felton
and Charles Brooks; Brompton, Samuel Pierce and William Webb; Compton, Avery O,
Kellum and Wm. Fling; Shipten, James Smith and James Boutelle; Melbourne, Adolphus
Aylmer and David G. Sloane; Eaton, Newport, Ditton and Clinton, H. N, Hill and John
Henry Pope; Dudswell, Windsor, Weedon and Stoke, James Muunkittrick ; Bury, Westbury
and Lingwick, Hammond McClintock and James Ross;  Hereford, Clifton and  Auckland,
Joseph Weston.  Mr. Hollis Smith was chosen mayor, and Mr. J. G. Robertson, secretary-
treasurer. The necessary ‘“standing rules " were adopted. ‘T'he mayors of the municipality
of Sherbrooke were: 1847 to September, 1851, Hollis Smith; 1851 to September, 1852,
A. G. Woodward; 1853 to end of the council of Sherbrooke in 1855, Charles Brooks.
Mr. J. G. Robertson (after Confederation treasurer of the Province for several years) held
the office of sceretary-treasurer during the existence of the Council.

Again the law was changed, and in 1855 there came into force the ** Lower Canada
Municipal and Road Act,” passed that same year. With few changes this law is still in
force.  In 1853 the county of Sherbrooke had been subdivided into the counties of
Compton, Richmond, Wolfe and Sherbrooke. T'he new law above mentioned had been
created to facilitate the transaction of municipal business in the different counties throughout
the Province, which had been legislated into existence. Previous to 1855 the local
municipal councils had very little power, and in many cases were not kept alive until after
the passing of this Act. This is evidenced by there being no existing records of many
townships previous to 1855. The county of Sherbrooke was included in the new county
of Compton for municipal purposes.

‘*“ Agreeably to the provisions of the Lower Canada Municipal and Road Act of 1855,
a meeting of the mayors of the several local councils in the county of Compton, was held
at the Academy in Cookshire, in the township of Eaton, on Wednesday, September 3,
1855. There were present the following mayors: B. Pomroy, Compton; Charles Brooks,
Ascot; A. P. Ball, town of Sherbrooke; Geo. Bonallie, Orford; C. A. Bailey, Eaton;
A. Learned, Newport; L. Pope, jr., Bury; James Ross, Lingwick; Colin Noble, Winslow;
D. H. Pope, Clifton; TLevi R. Dean, Hercford.” Mr. Charles Brooks was chosen as
warden and Mr. S. A, Hurd as sceretary-treasurer. ‘T'he first by-law passed was one fixing
Cookshire as the place for the future meetings of the Council. Up to December, 1856, all
reference to money in Council proceedings was in pounds, shillings and pence. The first
reckoning in dollars and cents is found on the aforesaid date. The value of rateable
property in the county of Compton, according to the assessment rolls of 1856, was as
follows: Ascot, $406,606; Westbury, $24,421; town of Sherbrooke, $3564.900; Winslow,
$25080; FEaton, $300,205; Orford, $104,937; Lingwick, $99,238; Hereford, $90,763;
Clifton, $92,192 ; Bury, $123,652; Compton, $416,046; Newport, $78,569; Auckland,
$14,400; Ditton, #7,700; Clinton, $7,800; total amount, $2,357,410. In 1860 the total
assessment had increased to $2,934,134.

In 1859 the county building, located in Cookshire, was purchased from the school
commissioners of Katon, having been used previous to that time as an academy.

From 1855 up to about 1880, many records are found of petitions having been sent
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to Parliament, praying for changes in laws, or protesting against proposed acts. These
motions on the part of the councillors show that they took a lively interest in the
public affairs of the country.

The following resolutions, touching the rights of the Protestant minority at Confederation,
show that Compton county, at least, was alive to their interests. On June 13, 1866, it was
“moved by Councillor Chaddock, seconded by Councillor Lebourveau, and resolved: *“““I'hat
the warden and secretary-treasurer petition Parliament at its present session, to the effect
that previous to Confederation of the British North American provinces, the rights of the
Protestant minority in Lower Canada, as respects municipal and school matters, be guarded
and protected in such a manuer that hereafter, should Confederation take place, the majority
may not have the power to interfere with the action of the Protestant minority on those
points.”” At the forty-fifth quarterly session, September 12, 1866, “* Councillor L. Pope moved
the following resolutions, seconded by Councillor Lebourveau: ‘T'hat the warden and
secretary-treasurer shall, on behalf of this council, petition the Imperial Parliament to the
effect that the rights of the English-speaking Protestant community in Lower Canada be
protected by the introduction into the constitution of Lower Canada of clauses therein similar
to those introduced into the last session of the House of Assembly, but withdrawn, referring
to educational matters, And that the Protestants in Lower Canada be allowed the manage-
ment of their own schools and of contributing their money to the support of Protestant
schools only, if they see fit, and that a committee consisting of the warden, secretary-treasurer
and Councillor Robertson, prepare such petition,”  Carried unanimously.

On March 13, 1867, “The warden read and presented a copy of a despatch from the
Sceretary of State for the Colonies, acknowledging the receipt of a petition through the Hon.
AL TL Galt, addressed to Her Majesty the Queen, and forwarded to him by the Governor-
General's secretary, for the information of the council and municipal officers of the county of
Compton,”  This petition stated that the Secretary of State for the Colonies would see that
the subject of education for the minority should be thoroughly discussed with the represen-
tatives of British North America.

At a regular meeting of the council held on September g, 1868, steps were taken to
have a registry office established at Cookshire, which was done in the summer of 1869.
Previous to this it was necessary to go to Sherbrooke for registration purposes.

In 1870 the townships of Compton, Orford, Ascot and town of Sherbrooke were separated
from Compton county, and formed into the municipality of the county of Sherbrooke, for
municipal  purposes.  This was partly brought about by the intense feeling caused by
passing  by-law No. 37.

On July 5, 1877, Sir John A. Macdonald visited Bury. At that time he was leader of
the opposition, and had just enunciated his national policy, which was successful at the polls
in 1878, and which has carried the Liberal-Conservatives to victory at every election since that
date. Hon. John Henry Pope was one of his strongest supporters. On the above date a
special meeting of the County Council was held, and an address, from which the following
extracts are taken, adopted and presented to Sir John A. Macdonald at Bury: *It affords
us the highest gratification to have this opportunity of expressing our entire confidence in
you as the acknowledged chieftain of that great political party. * * * ‘Through your
ability, with the assistance of that great statesman, the late lamented Sir George E. Cartier,
whose high-toned character calmed the conflicting elements of the various minds of a mixed
population, has the great work of Confederation been accomplished. * * #* e have every
confidence in you as the leader of the present opposition * # # # and sympathize with
you in your efforts, particularly the interest you have taken to obtain protection for our

4
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vartons industries and commercial r||l\'l|b|i~r~. and we constder |iInln‘liH|l of so much illl[)ull.lllll'
to the welfare of this Donunion that unless it s obtained the vesult must inevitably eripple
ourindustries, cramp our energies, and  bring  financial ruin upon our commercial interests,
The retivement of vour government from office has been a national calamity, and we look
forward to a speedy return,
oA Baaney, Thos, BeEssET,
Secretary-Treasurer Harden
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I W. Rogers G M. Stearns
V. F Hodge R lg Cowan A Ross, Sec' v Treas C. Martin R Campean
] D Mornson P Rosa E Roberge C. N. Cass

MEMBERS COMPTON COUNTY COUNCIL for 18¢s.

In 1878 the members of the County Council, by a large majority, were strong supporters
of the Conservative party. ‘They took a lively interest in  politics, as cvidenced by the
following  resolution, passed  March 13, 1878, with only one dissenting :© ** Moved by
Councillor Paquette, seconded by Councillor McDonald, and resolved: *That we, the warden
and county councillors of the county of Compton, in council assembled, regret to sce the
unjustifiable course taken by the Lieutenant-Governor, in regard to the late crisis in the
Quebee Legislature, and do condemn his actions, believing them to be, if not unconstitutional,
subversive of the rights of a free people, suck as we, British colonists, claim to be. That we
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unanimously and heartily  endorse the course taken by our representative in the Legislature
during the late erisis and wish to extend to him onr continuned confidence and esteem,” ™
From 1855 down to the present day, the wardens of Compton county have been men of
exceptional ability,  As the parliamentary representatives from Compton county have always
been men who took leading parts in the governments of the country, so the wardens have
heen men above the average inability,  The following is a complete list, with years they
were in office:s 185563, Charles Brooks; 180406, A, W, Kendrick ;  1867-70, Benj. Pomroy
1871-72, Lo Popey 1873760, Moses  Lebourvean s 1877-79, Thos, Bennett; 1880-81, Moses
Lebourveans; 1882 until his death, October 1y, 1885, Lewis Melver,  ‘T'he Council  passed

K. W. MclLeod Allan MclLeod
HoOA CAIRNS J. K. Wilson AN Farnsworth, Harden Hugh Leonard ] Hunt
E. Grenter Wi Lefebyre Jos. Agagnier I' L. N. Prevost

MEMBERS COMPTON COUNTY COUNCIL for 155

resolutions of sympathy and attended the funeral in a body.  December g, 1885-86, Charles
McClary; 1887, A, Ross; 1888, W. H. Learned; 1889, C. H. Parker; 1890, A. Grenier;
1891 until his resignation in September, 1892, W. H. Learned;  balance of vear 1892, Jos.
Agagnier; 1893, Hugh Leonard; 1894, Nap. Lemicux; 1895, A, S, Farnsworth,  There
have been only three seeretary-treasurers during all these forty vears.  Mr. S, A Hurd was
appointed at the first meeting in 1855, He resigned March ¢, 1864, when Mr. C. A, Bailey
was appointed and held the office for twenty-six years.  His resignation being submitted, the
present secretary-treasurer, Mr. Alexander Ross, was appointed September 30, 18go.
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During the year 1895, the Council for the county of Compton, was composed of twenty-
one members, On January 1, 1896, the municipality of Clifton, familiarly known as West
Clifton, was divided, by act of the Provincial Legislature, passed in 1895, into St. Edwidge
de Clifton and Clifton, Martinville and the English-speaking portion retaining the name of
Clifton.  Engravings of all the members of the County Council for 1895 will be found on
adjoining pages, including the secretary-treasurer, A. Ross, Esq. Following will be found a
sinort sketch of each councillor:

Artemus Stevens Farnsworth, warden of Compton county and mayor of the township of
Newport, was born in Eaton, December 3, 1855. He is one of the successful farmers of
the County, his farm being located between Clanders and Sawyerville,  He has been coun-
cillor for the past eight years, and mayor for three years. Married in Newport, October o,
1884, to Luvia A. Bowker. Issue, four children.

Voluey French Hodge, mayor of the township of Eaton, was born in Eaton, November 18,
1850, Farmer by occupation. He has held the office of councillor for three years. Married
at Sawvyerville, May 21, 1873, to Mary Edith Clough. Issue, one daughter.

Hugh Leonard, mavor of South Winslow, was born in Bury, November 29, 1847. Has
held the office of mayor for twenty-one years and warden in 1893. He is a justice of the
peace, and a large mill owner and trader. Has never married.

George McClellan Stearns, mayor of Lake Megantic, was born at Stanstead Plain, April 16,
1864. Came to Lake Megantic in 1889, and at present holds the position of manager of pulp
mills, belonging to the Montague Paper Company. Has held the office of mayor for two years.
Married at Burlington, Vt.,, January 16, 1890, to Katharine Johnson. Issue, one daughter.

Allan MacLeod, mayor of Marston, was born in North Ely, Que., September 1, 1843.
Came to Lingwick in 1846, and moved onto his present farm in 1854. Was secretary-
treasurer of Marston for thirteen years, and mayor the past ten years. Married at Lake
Megantic, December 29, 1869, to Anna MacDonald, Issue, six children.

James Frederic Wilson, mayor of Westbury, was born in Compton, March 14, 1858,
moved to East Angus in 1834, He is a member of the firm of Planche, Wilson & Co.,
general merchants. Married at Haskell Hill, near Lennoxville, February 18, 1880, to
Mary M. Johnston. Issue, four children.

James Hunt, mayor of Bury, was born in England, June 22, 1835. Came to Bury
in 1836. Is a prosperous carriage-maker and trader. Has been a member of the Council,
its mayor, and a justice of the peace for a number of years. Married in Bury, December
20, 1859, to Jane Stokes. Issue, three children.

Pierre Louis Napoleon Prévost, mayor of Ditton and Clinton, was born in Quebec city,
May 11, 1856. He came to Ditton in 1876, where he has followed farming principally.
Has been school commissioner several years, and a municipal councillor since 1878, For
several years Mr. Prévost was one of the associate editors of ZLe Plonnzer, of Sherbrooke.
He married Céline Morel de la Durantaye, at La Patrie, September 4, 1877. Issue, nine children.

Elzear Roberge, mayor of Chesham, was born at St. Norbert d'Arthabaska, June 25,
1864. Came to Chesham in 1875, where he has followed farming and kept a general store
at Notre-Dame-des-Bois. He held the office of secretary-treasurer for seven years. Was
married at Chesham, July 6, 1886, to Marie A. D. Laplante. Issue, one son.

Kenneth W. MacLeod, mayor of Whitton, was born in Winslow, May 4, 1857. He
has held the offices of school commissioner seven years, councillor six years, and mayor two
years. Is one of the successful farmers of Whitton. First marriage April 10, 1885, to
Catharine Maclver, who died in 1891, leaving four children. Second marriage August 3o,
1893, to Mrs. Annie Macleay. Issue, one child.
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Carlos N. Cass, mayor of Clifton, was born in Stanstead, January 20, 1838. Came
to Martinville in 1846, and is now a successful mill owner and lumber dealer. Has been
councillor of his town for a number of years. Mr. Cass has been married twice. First to
Sarall Clark:; second marriage to Lora A. Pierce. Issue, four children.

Charles Martin, mayor of Emberton, was born in North Ham, Que., May 13, 1855.
Came to Emberton in March, 1876, where he has been a successful farmer. Married Marie
Bissonette, January 12, 1873. Issue six children.

Remi Campeaun, mayor of North Winuslow, was born at St. Romain, Septeumiber 12,
1859. He has always lived in his native place and is one of the leading farmers. He
married Phebroma Gagné,  Issue, four children.

Pierve Rosa, mayor of North Whitton, was born in St. Anselme, Que. He came to Ste.
Cecile in 1876, A farmer by occupation. Was married at St. Sébastien, Que., to Marie
Maheux. Issue, three children,

Alfred Lefebvre, mayor of Hereford, was born in Yamaska county, September 17, 1837.
Came to Paquetteville in 1861, Occupation, farmer and carpenter. Has been a councillor
of Hereford for over ten years. Was married January 7, 1859, to Herminie Maloin.

Issue, three children.

Hollis Alpheus Cairns, mayor of East Clifton, was born in Eaton, January 1, 1853. Has
held the office of mayor since 1884, and postmaster for over twenty years. A successful
farmer.  Married oth July, 1884, in Compton, to Sarah A. Harkness. Issue, two children.

Joseph  Agagnier, mayor of Auckland, was born at Laprairie, Que.,, March 31, 1842.
Came to St. Malo in 1868, and is now a leading farmer and mill owner. Has held the
office of councillor since 1870 and of mayor since 1875 Married in Chateanguay county,
September 9, 1867, to Frangoise Gagnier. Issue, three children.

Joseph Edmond Grenier, mayor of South Marston, was born in Montreal, in 1850. He
purchased a farm and moved to Piopolis in 1872, where he was married in 1876. Issue,
thirteen children.

Randal Young Cowan, mayor of Lingwick, was born in the same township, February 10,
1842, where he has always lived. Has been councillor and school commissioner for a number
of years, and is a prominent member of the R. T. of T. Mr. Cowan was one of the first
chitdren born in Lingwick. He married Sarah Young, of Lingwick, on April 28, 1869,
Issue, six children.

John D. Morrison, mayor of Hampden, was born at South Dell, Ness, Scotland, October 1,
1852. Came to Compton county with his parents in 1856. At present he is postmaster at Millen,
also mill owner and lumber dealer. Mr. Morrison married Effie Campbell. Issue, five children.

John Willard Rogers, mayor of Sawyerville, was born in Eaton, January 3, 1844. Moved
onto his present farm in 1879. Was a councillor in Eaton for nine years, and mayor of
Sawyerville for several years. Married at Huntingville, Que., January 2r, 1879, to Mrs.
Hibbard. Issue, one daughter.

Alexander Ross, secretary-treasurer for the county of Compton, was born in Lingwick,
August 1, 1850. Was secretary-treasurer of the school commissioners from the time he
was sixteen years of age until he was twenty-one. A member of the hoaid for twelve years,
and chairman most of that time. He was a councillor for seventeen years, mayor of Lingwick
for fifteen years, and warden of the County in 1887. He was in trade in Lingwick and
Scotstown until 1889, avd first mail clerk on the old International railway. Mr. Ross moved
to Cookshire in September, 1890, when he was appointed secretary-treasurer for the County.
In January, 1891, he received the appointment as first collector of customs for the port of
Cookshire.  On July 13, 1892, he was married to Ada Planche.



CHAPTER IX.
T MiLrena.
Farly History ~Organization First Troops —Hereford Railway Riot - Present Officers.

HE military history of Compton county dates back to about the time the first settlers
came into the Eastern Townships.  Many of those hardy pioncers had taken part in
the Revolutionary war between England and her colonies, now forming the United

States.  Their svmpathies, however, were in accord with England's form of government, and
losing all; they were obliged to make homes elsewhere than in those states which had been
granted their independence,  The many thousands thus situated wended their way, principally
to the townships in Ontario, but there were also several hundred families who came to the
Eastern Townships. A military spirit came  with these men, and quite naturally they and
their descendants have alwavs been found ready to defend the country of their choice.  The
first records of any military force in the County date back to the time of the second war
between England and the United States in 1812-15. At that time there was in Eaton an
organized company, under the command of Colonel John Pope, the great-grand-father of R. H.
Pope, Esq., M. P. This company was ordered to report at St. Johus, Que., but when they
reached Compton village, on their march to St. Johns, the order was countermanded and they
returned to their homes, It is said the order was given more to test their allegiance than
for any other purpose. In 1823 Capt. John Pope, father of Hon. John Henry Pope, raised a
troop of cavalry, and July 4 was the day appointed for organization. ‘The first authentic
and  published records are found in  Jos. Bouchette's works on Canada, who was, for upward
of thirty years, surveyvor-general for Lower Canada.  ‘The Government in 1830 called upon
the county of Sherbrooke, which then included, Compton, Richmond and Wolfe, to form
“one battalion of infantry and two troops of volunteer cavalry.” The act under which these
were formed, called for *‘every able-bodied male inhabitant of the Province, above eighteen
and under sixty vears,” as liable to serve as militiamen, unless exempted by law.  Exemptions,
however, were very numerous, being extended to the “‘clergy, civil and military officers of His
Mujesty's Government, physicians and surgeons, notaries, land survevors, ferrymen, millers,
all teachers of colleges, academies and schools.” (See Bouchette's works.) This law applied
to the sedentary militia, and as a reserve is still in force. The sedentary militia, however, is
a dead letter at the present day, having become so by neglect on the part of the Government,
which have not appointed the officers, as they have passed away. This was not the original
intention of the militia law of 1855, but rather that the sedentary militia should be always
ready as a reserve. Back in the days when this militia was the only protection the County
had, they would meet once a year at their military head-quarters. Cookshire was always a
military centre, and iere would congregate the many men for their annual one day’s drill.
Everyone in those days was expected to partake of a little whiskey for their stomach’s sake,
and at these annual meetings as they gathered around the hotellier, the renowned saying,
“If this be war let there never be peace,” was often heard. Mr. Charles Lebourveau, in his
short history of Eaton, published in 1894, mentions that during the Papineau rebellion he,
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in company with nine others, was stationed at Sherbrooke for two weeks. And a guard was
kept there during the winter, ten men being relieved every fourteen days. The Court House
was used as a barrack.

On August 16, 1855, the present law authorizing “Active or Volunteer Militia Force,”
was issued as general order No. 1.

Militia general orders, under date of Toronto, February 7, 18356, authorized the forma-
tion of the following :

“ Military District Number Four, Lower Canada: One troop of volunteer militia cavalry,
at Cookshire, to be styled the Cookshire Troop of Volunteer Militia Cavalry, the following
officers are appointed to this troop, viz.: To be captain, John Henry Pope, esquire; to be
licutenant, James H. Cook, gentleman; to be cornet, William Cumming, gentleman; to be
sergeant instructor, Geo. P. Ward; to be bugler, Erastus Caswell.”

This was the first troop organized in Sherbrooke or Compton county under this new act.

On March 20, 1856, a company was organized at Sherbrooke, Que., to be known as
No. 1 Rifle Company, with officers as follows: captain, W. E. Ibbotson; licutenant,
Hopkinson; ensign, W. A. Morehouse.

For the first ten or twelve years it was difficult to keep the Cookshire troop of cavalry
in existence, and, in fact, it did become extinet, at two different times, in all but name. John
Henry Pope (afterwards the Hon. J. H. Pope) retired with rank of major, February 1, 18359.
On July 18, 1862, the first organization took place, when the following officers were gazetted :
captain, James H. Cook; lieutenant, Geo. P. Ward; cornet, Craig Pope.

At the time of the Fenian scare on the border, in 1866, the troop was again re-organized
and to this day has been kept under orders and ready for all emergencies. At this time the
following officers were gazetted: captain, Wm. Winder; licutenant, J. H. Taylor; cornet,
C. W. B. French. The troop was immediately ordered to Stanstead Plain, to repel the
gathering of Fenians, and were on active service from the 1oth to the 19th of June, of
that year.

Again in the year 1870, witli Lieutenant J. H. Taylor as captain; lieutenant, C. W. B.
French; and cornet, Henry Claddock, the Cookshire troop was on active service, from April
10 to 3o, and from May 24 till June 7, at Frelighsburg, Que. They assisted in repelling
the second attempt of the Fenians, and arrived within a few hours after the fight at Eccles
Hill, having been several miles away at the time.

The first infantry company in Compton county was organized March 9, 1866, at Bury.
This was brought about through the instrumentality of Captain F. M. Pope, who was at the
time attending the military  school in  Montreal. Those in authority were aware of the
intended Fenian raids and commenced to prepare accordingly. Captain Pope, who was then
ouly a young man, by request left the school and started at once for his home, where, in a
few months, he organized no less than four companies of infantry.

On October 11, 1867, a battalion was organized from the following independent companies,
to be known as the gs8th Battalion of Infantry, with headquarters at Robinson :—To be
lieutenant-colonel acting until further orders—James H. Cook, Esquire; to be majors acting
until further orders—Colin Noble, Esquire, and N. O. Kellum, Esquire; to be adjutant and
battalion drill instructor (temporary)—Captain F. M. Pope, M. S., from No. 1 Company.

List of original corps of which battalion was formed :—No. 1 Company, Bury, organized
March 9, 1866, captain—F. M. Pope, lieutenant——— ensign — Edmond Lockett; No. 2
Company, Gould, organized November 16, 1866, captain—-J. W. Vaughn, lieutenant— A,
McKennon, ensign—Alex. Ross; No. 3 Company, Winslow, organized November 16, 1866,
captain—W. McDonald, lieutenant—]J. T Mclver, ensign—Donald Beaton; No. 4 Company,
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Marbleton, organized November 16, 1866, captain—H. J. Wayland, lieutenant—W. W. Wayland,
ensign—H. Lothrop; No. 5 Company, Lake Megantic, organized March 22, 1867, captain—
J. D. Ramage, lieutenant—]J. B. McDonald, ensign—R. McLeod; No. 6 Company, Compton,
organized March 22, 1867, captain—C. D. Rice, licutenant—W. B. Ives, ensign—W. A. Snow ;
No. 7 Company, Coaticook, organized June 8, 1866, captain—A. Shurtliff, licutenant—D. P.
Baldwin, ensign—D. T. Baldwin; No. 8 Company, Stanstead, organized June 8, 1866, captain—-
Jas. K. Gilman, lieutenant—A. Drew, ensign—]. S. Terrill; No. g Company, Winslow,
organized May 29, 1868, captain—D. Mclver, lieutenant—DM. Leonard, ensign—M. McAuley ;
No. 10 Company, Eaton, organized May 29, 1868, captain—H. Bailey, lieutenant—Allen T
Hodge, ensign—Alonzo Sanborn. The last two companies were organized and added to the
battalion after it had been formed.

On November 3, 1877, the sth Provisional Regiment of Cavalry was organized by the
consolidation of the following independent troops of cavalry, which had been organized as
follows :—Cookshire No. 1 Troop, organized February 7, 1857, captain—C. W. B. French,
lieutenant--Oliver A. Taylor, cornet—Henry Chaddock ; Sherbrooke No. 2 Troop, organized
November 13, 1860, captain—Lieutenant John Drummond, late Sherbrooke Cavalry, lieutenant—
Wright Chamberlain, cornet—Simon Augustus Stevens; Stanstead No. 3 Troop, organized
February 23, 1872, captain—Isracl Wood, lieutenant—David A. Mansur, cornet—John W.
Molton ; Compton No. 4 Troop, organized February 23, 1872, captain—Frederick Smith
Stimson, lieutenant—\Walter George Murray, cornet—Edward William Jennings.

On November 14, 1879, the Sutton Troop of Cavalry, which was organized April 26,
1872, with the following officers, was attached to the sth regiment, and was known as No. 5
Troop :—captain—S. N. Boright, lieutenant—Joseph P. Billings; cornet—James C. Gleason.
The major commanding the regiment was: major and brevet—Lt. Col. Johu Henry Taylor,
from the Cookshire Troop of Cavalry. The regiment wore the Hussar uniform.

In the fall of 1888, during the building of the Hereford Railway, two of the contractors
absconded, one owing about one thousand Italians for their labor. These men, ignorant of the
language and laws of the country, threatened to destroy the property of the railway company,
and do other damage. They went so far that the warden of the County, W. H. Learned, Esq.,
and two justices of the peace, deemed it advisable to call out the militia to protect life and
property. The following report made by the commanding officer, Lt. Col. F. M. Pope,
covers fully the work of the militia :

“Bury, October 15, 1888.

“ Sir,—I have the honor to report to you, for the information of the Adjutant-General
of Militia, that on the twenty-fifth day of September last, at 6 p. M., 1 received a requisition
from the warden and two justices of the peace of the county of Compton, requesting me to
call out the militia in aid of the civil power. The information I received was to the effect
that eight hundred Italians who had been employed upon what is known as the Hereford
Railway, had been defrauded of their pay by the absence of the contractors, which had so
enraged the Italians that they had taken possession of the railway, and that the lives and
property of the people in the vicinity were in danger. I therefore ordered out companies
Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 9 and 10 of the 58th Battalion, which were concentrated at Cookshire
on the following evening, being altogether about 200 men (the railway company having
placed at my disposal an engine and some box cars). The next morning, upon the arrival
of ammunition from Montreal, I despatched the cavalry to Sawyerville, a village about six
miles from Cookshire, where trouble was anticipated, with orders to reconnoiter and report
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to me at the railway about two miles this side of the said village. I then proceeded
with the infantry on board the train to Sawyerville, having taken all necessary precaution
against accidents from rails being taken up, ete. Upon arrival, I found a hundred Italians
who were in a very excited state, flourishing clubs and revolvers. Work was at once
resumed by the men who had been driven off by the Italians the day before. The day
passed off without any collision taking place.

“Not being able to billet more than one-half of the force at Sawyerville, I occupied it
with the I'‘roop of Cavalry and two companies of Infantry, returning with the balance to
Cookshire for the night with the exception of a guard composed of one company which I
placed to guard a valuable trussel bridge which the railway company were afraid would be
blown up as the Italians had dynamite in their possession.

“During the evening alarming reports from Hereford reached me, and Mr. Ives, the
managing-director of the company, requested that at least seventy-five men should be sent
there at once. I then ordered out the captains of No. 6, Hatley, No. 7, Coaticook, and No. 8,
Stanstead, to call out the men and proceed across country to the end of the road. The next
morning, making an early start, brought up the men from Cookshire by train. ‘The company
having informed me that they feared that three store houses situated from eight to ten miles
above Sawyerville with about $s500 worth of property would be destroyed, I dispatched
eighty men and four officers, under the command of Col. Taylor, to occupy aund protect the
said store-houses.  The troop of cavalry I employed to patrol the roads leading to
Sawyerville and to keep up communication between the different points guarded. Having
been informed that the Italians were gathering in large numbers, up the line, with the intention
of attacking the men who were laying iron, I proceeded with the balance of my force
(consisting of about eighty men) to that point, where I found about three hundred Italians
gathered. ‘They were all armed with clubs and other weapons, and were very excited, and
swore they would sooner die than allow the work to proceed. I took possession of a knoll
about fifty paces from them and formed my men into a square, which gave me a very strong
position. T'he magistrate then read the riot act, and as one of the Itali:n leaders could read
Euglish T had him read and interpret, the same to them. I then explained to them their
position, threatening if they did not disperse within ten minutes I would fire upon them.
They waited uniil the last minute, when they broke up and dispersed. I was subsequently
informed that it was their intention to mix up with the troops and, being five or six to one,
to grab the men’s rifles, and as some of them had revolvers they thought, at close quarters,
to get the better of the troops. But as they were made to keep at a distance, a collision
was again averted. I had then sixteen miles of the Cookshire end of the road under military
protection. As the Deputy Adjutant-General arrived during the night and was made
acquainted with the position of affairs, he decided to proceed to Hereford and take command of
that end of the line, taking with him the cavalry, one officer and fifteen men of the Infantry
in wagons. Nothing of note took place at this end of the line until October 3 when I
received notice in writing from the magistrate and wardens that the difficulties were arranged
and that the militia were no longer required. I would add that the troops under my command
behaved in a most exemplary way. I did not have to punish a man for mishehavior, nor was
there a complaint from the inhabitants where they were quartered during the whole time.

I have the honor to he your obedient servant,
F. M. Porg, Lieutenant-Colonel,

To the Deputy Adjutant-General, Commander 58th Battalion.
Commander M. D. No. 5, Montreal, P. Q.
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List of officers who were out during the Hereford Railway Riots, and took part in the
suppression of same:

Staff—Lieutenant-Colonel F. M. Pope, in command; Lieutenant-Colonel J. H. Taylor, Major
M. B. McAuley, Adjutant E. S. Baker, Surgeon F.J. Austen, M. D.; Surgeon Eli Ives, M. D,
Quarter Master R. Wright; No. 1 Troop, sth Regiment Cavalry—Captain J. F. ILearned,
Lieutenant G. W. L. French; No. 1 Company, 58th Battalion—Captain A. L. McIver, Lieutenant
H. R. Bishop; No. 2—Captain A. Ross; No. 3—Captain J. F. McIver, Lieutenant G. I.. McLeod ;
No. 4—Captain W. W. Weyland, Lieutenant C. Lothrop; No. s—Captain Donald Beaton;
Lieutenant J. B. McDonald; 2d Lieutenant M. Mackenzie; No. 6—Captain G. P. Hitchcock,
Licutenant George C. Billington, 2d Lieutenant H. M. Percy; No. 7—Captain  R. G.
Trenholm, Lieutenant C. W. Edwards; No. 8—Captain John Clark; No. g--Captain James
Kelly, Lieutenant B. McAuley; No. ro—Lieutenant C. W. Reade, acting captain.

The officers of the sSth Battalion of Infantry, on January 1, 1896, were as follows:

Lieutenant Colonel-——Malcolm B. McAuley; Major—Edward S. Baker; Captains—No. 1
Company, Alexander ILewis Mclver; No. 2, P. J. Gillies; No. 3, J. T. Mclver; No. 4,
R. W. Weyland: No. 5, Donald Beaton; No. 6, Gilbert P. H. Hitcheock; No. 7, Robert

George Trenholm; No. 8, Hugh T. Elder; No. o, : No. 10, Samuel H. Botterill;
Lieutenants—No. 1 Company, ——— No. 2, John Macdonald; No. 3, ; No. 4, Benj.
A. Gilbert; No. 5, M. A, McLeod; No. 6, George C. Billington; No. 7, + No. 8,
William P. Jenkins; No 9, James Kelly; No. 10, i 2d Lieutenants-——No. 1 Company,

Osborne L. Pope: No. 2, i No. 3, Duncan L. McLeod and Henry W. Albro; No. 4,
Levi Gilbert ; No. 5, M. McKenzie; No. 6, Walter H. Murray; No. 7, i No. 8, James
Park Brecvoort; No. 9, Gilanders Mclver: No. 10, Chas. N. Reade; Paymaster—Edmund
Lockett, honorary major ; Quartermaster—Robert Wright; Surgeon-—R. H. Phillimore, M. D.;
Company headquarters—No. 1 Company, Bury (Robinsons); No. 2, Scotstown; No. 3,
Marsborough ; No. 4, Marbleton ; No. 5, Milan; No. 6, Massawippi; No. 7, Coaticook ;
No. 8, Beebe Plain : No. 9, Winslow; No. 10, Cookshire.

The sth Provisional Regiment of Cavalry was uniformed and adopted the mname of
sth Dragoons in Juue, 1893. ‘The officers on Jwuwry 1, 1396, were as follows:

Headquarters—Cookshire, P. Q.; Lieutenant Colonel—Johu Henry Taylor ; Major—John
F. Learned; Captains—A Troop, Cookshire, H. S. Farnsworth; B Troop, Sherbrooke, G. L.
McNicoll; ¢ Troop, Stanstead, John Clark; D Troop, Compton, Albert ILee Pomroy ;
E ‘Troop, Sutton, Josiah S. Billings; Licutenauts—A ‘I'roop, . B Troop, Rupert F.
Morkill ; C Troop, George B. Hall; D Troop, v E Troop, Edwin B. Greely ;
2d Lieutenants—A Troop, Alex. R. Pennoyer and George W. Freuch; B Troop, Frank
J. Barton; C Troop, Ben. B. Morrill; D Treop, F. W. Thompson; E Troop, Wm. C. Strong;
Paymaster—Herbert A. Taylor; Quartermaster—Horace H. Pope; Surgeon—Alexander
Dewar, M. D.; Veterina.y Surgeon—Erastus P. Ball, V. S.




CHAPTER X.
Ramwayvs or Compron County.
Grand Trunk —Canadian Pacific ~Maine Central -Quebec Central,

HE first railway built in Compton county was a link of the old St. Lawrence and
Atlantic Railway, which afterwards became part of the Grand Trunk Railway. This
traverses through the township of Compton, from mnorth to south, separating it into

nearly equal proportions. T'he inception of this line was due to J. Pennoyer and Colonel
John Moore, who first indoctrinated Sir A. T. Galt—who was at that time commissioner of
the British American Land Company—with the importance to Canada of counecting the
Atlantic sea-board with the St. Lawrence. The active and powerful mind of Mr. Galt gave
effect to the suggestion of his subordinates, and after great difficulties the line was completed
in 1852.

The Quebec Central Railway, giving a short line connection between Sherbrooke and
Quebee, was built in 1875, ‘To the Hon. J. G. Robertson is due the honor of the building
of this road, which is now one of the best paying railway investments in America. In 1893,
when a great depression was felt all over the country, the Quebec Central Railway was the
only road in the United States or Canada that paid a dividend on its capital. This road
passes through the township of Westbury, with one station at East Angus.

The two principal railways of the County are the Canadian Pacific and Maine Central.
The former purchased the old International and the latter leased the Hereford Railway. As
both of these roads were in their inception and completion due to the residents of Compton
county, their history in full is here given.

INTERNATIONAL RAILwAYv,

To the late Hon. John Henry Pope is due the credit for constructing the old Interna-
tional Railway, and its use as a connecting link of the Canadian Pacific Railway short line
to Halifax, N. S. For many years before the charter was secured, Mr. Pope's energies and
influence were directed toward building this road. And after it was completed it was his
own private funds which, at different times, paid the expenses of the road and kept
it open for traffic.

By Act 33, Victoria, assented to May 12, 1870, the following persons were incorporated
as the St. Francis and Megantic International Railway Company: Benjamin Pomroy,
Charles Brooks, Richard William Heneker, William Farwell, the younger; Lemuel Pope,
Cyrus A. Bailey, Colin Noble, Edward Towle Brooks, William Farwell and Stephen Edgell,
Esquires. .“The said company and their agents and servants may lay out, construct and
finish a double or single track, iron railway, from Sherbrooke to the Province line at a
point near Lake Megantic, there to connect with a line of railway in the State of Maine,
about to be coustructed, and which will connect with the European and North American
Railway, or a branch thereof, so as to form a continuous railway from the Grand Trunk
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to the city of St. John, N. B. The capital stock of the said company shall not exceed, in
the whole, the sum of #1,500 000, to be divided into thirty thonsand shares, of $50 cach.”

The provisional directors were: Johu Henry Pope, M. P., Hon. John Sewall Sanborn,
Hon. Sir Alexander “Tilloch  Galt, James Ross, M.P. P, Charles Brooks, Richard W,
Heneker, ‘Thomas S. Morey, Benjamin Pomroy, Cyrus A, Bailey, Lemuel Pope, Colin
Noble and Lewis Meclver, Esquires,

The annunal general mectings were held on first Monday in September, of each year.

At that time no bonuses were granted by the governments of the day to aid in building
railways.  For this reason those promoting the enterprise were obliged to use every effort
possible to secure funds sufficient to go ahead with the work. In 1870 the town of Sher-
brooke, and townships of Ascot, Orford and Compton, were included in Compton county for
municipal purposes.  As the proposed railway would pass through eight municipalities in the
County, it was advocated that the County Council take a certain number of shares, in order
to help along the work. The action of the Council raised a great deal of opposition,
especially from those townships which would not receive the least benefit and still be obliged
to pay their share of the liability. And down to the present day this bitter feeling against
the well-known by-law, No. 37 remains in some cases almost unabated. During the rest of
the political life of the late Hon. John Henry Pope, his opponents used this as their only
weapon against him, while some attempt at the present day to use it as an argument against
his son, R. H. Pope, M. P.

The action of the County Council over the question of subscribing for stock, having
occupied so much of the mind of the public, during the past twenty-five years, the following
particulars, in regard to the same, have been taken from the journal of the County
Council proceedings.

On May 25, 1870, at a special session of the County Council, the secretary-treasurer,
C. A. Bailey, Esq., presented petitions from Sherbrooke, Ascot, Eaton and Bury, asking that
a special session of the County Council be held for the purpose of considering the propriety
of extending aid to the “St. Francis and Megantic International Railway.” *’T'he Council
took up the matter and after hearing addresses from the Hon. J. S. Sanborn, J. H. Pope,
M. P., and others, it was deemed advisable; and by-law No. 35 read three times and passed,
that the county of Compton subscribe for stock to the amount of $225,540. The votes of
the qualified municipal electors in each local municipality were cast on the 21st and 22nd
days of June, 1870. On June 30, another special meeting of the Council was held, when a
report of the result of the votes cast for and against by-law No. 35, was laid before the
Council.  *“’T'he municipalities of EKEaton, Bury, Newport, Lingwick, South Winslow and
Whitton, 6--Yea. Auckland, Clifton, Orford, Westbury, North Winslow, Compton and Ascot,
7—Nay. No returns received from Sherbrooke or Hereford.” ‘I'here being a majority of
votes against the by-law, the Council took no further action.

At the sixtieth quarterly session of the County Council, held September 14, 1870,
petitions from the inhabitants of Sherbrooke and Westbury, and resolutions from the local
councils of Bury and Newport, were presented, praying the Council to pass a by-law similar
to No. 35, for the purpose of extending aid to the * St. Francis and Megantic International
Railway.” These petitions were referred to a committee composed of Messrs. L. Pope,
H. Moe and John Keenan. After due consideration Messrs. Pope and Keenan brought in a
report in favor of granting aid to the railway, Councillor Moe dissenting. On the report
being put to a vote with the warden, B. Pomroy, Esq., in the chair, it was accepted on the
following division : Councillors Brooks (Ascot), Sawyer (Eaton), Pope (Bury), McLeod
(Whitton), Planche (Newport), Keenan (Lingwick), 6—Yea. Councillors Robertson (Sher-

.
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brooke), Moe (Orford), Claxton (Westbury), Hibbard (Hereford), 4—Nay. Councillors
Haseltine (Clifton), Noble (South Winslow), Marceau (North Winslow), and Beloin (Auck-
land), were absent. It was ordered that the by-law No. 37 should be presented to the
qualified electors of the local municipalities on the 18th and 19th of October, 1870, for their
decision.  An adjourned session of the Council was held on October 28, when the returns
from the local municipalities on by-law 37, were received, resulting as follows: Munici-
palitics of Whitton, Newport, South Winslow, Lingwick, Westbury, Bury, Eaton and town
of Sherbrooke, 8—VYea. Municipalitics of North Winslow, Auckland, Clifton, Compton and
Ascot, 5.—Nay. No returns had been received from Hereford and Orford, but the mayors
of these municipalities verbally said the vote had been nay. The by.law had carried by
only one municipality.

On June 14, 1871, a resolution was passed authorizing the issuance of county bonds to
the amount of $225,540, as authorised under by-law No. 37, payable in twenty-five years,
with interest at six per cent. For several years the County was coustantly harassed with
law suits over the legality of this by-law, in which it won all, settling for ever the question
of its legality. ‘The feeling was so strong over this that in 1871 the municipalitics of town
of Sherbrooke, and townships of Ascot, Orford and Compton, withdrew from Compton county
for municipal purposes, and formed a new municipality, known as the county of Sherbrooke.

Work was commenced on the railway in the winter of 1871-72. On July 15, 1875, the
line was completed and opened for traffic between Sherbrooke and Bury. The following
address was presented by the County Council to the Hon. John Heury Pope and Directors
of the **St. Francis and Megantic International Railway,” at the public opening of the
railway on the above date:

“Sirs,—We have much pleasure in offering to you and those gentlemen who have so
zealously laboured with you as directors, our congratulations upon the completion of the
first section of this railway. The part that you gentlemen have taken in the promotion of
this great enterprise, demands from us a recognition of the important services which you
have rendered to this county. Aund sir, the confidence which we have reposed in you for
many years, we feel has not been misplaced, and that in all your public career you have
diligently and with the purest n'tcnnon laboured for the interests of the country generally
and this county in particular. * % ¥ Associated as you are with gentlemen who share
with you a deep interest in the promotion of this great undertaking, we have the fullest
confidence that the work so far completed under your auspices, with many opposing elements,
will be brought to a successful termination, and we beg to assure you that we shall ever
remain your most sincere friends and supporters.”

Signed on behalf of the Compton County Council.

C. A. BaiLky, M. LEBOURVEALU,

Secretary-Treasurer. Warden.

By Act 4o, Victoria, assented to 28th April, 1877, the name of the St. Francis and
Megantic International Railway, was altered to ‘‘ The Iuternational Railway Company.” The
limitation of the issue of bonds was also changed to ‘‘ $30,000 per mile, not to bear interest
exceeding seven per cent.”

In March, 1879, the railway was completed as far as Lake Megantic, at which date the
following gentlemen were on the directorate: Hon. J. H. Pope, president; E. ‘I'. Brooks,
vice-president ; R. W. Heneker, T. S. Morey, M. H. Cochrane; C. C. Colby; L. Mclver,
L. Pope, Chas. Brooks, and C. Noble; J. Davidson, secretary.
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On June o, 1880, a special committee composed of councillors  Charles  McClary,
W. H. Learned, J. A, Chicoyne, J. H. Moring A, Ross and H. A, Cairns, made a report to
the County Council, on an examination made into the affairs of the International Railway,
in which the County held a large number of shares. A perusal of this report shows that up
to September, 1885, #1,227.8)1.19 had been expended on the permanent way, an average of
$14.973.67 per mile. “The road, although worked with extreme economy and showing a
profit on its working, has never been able, out of net income, to pay the full interest on
its bonded debt,

On September 8, 1886, a communication was read from W. B. Ives, Esq., authorized
by Sir George Stephen, offering to purchase the stock in the International Railway, owned
by the County, at fifty cents in the dollar, or a sum total of 112,500,  After strong appeals
made in favor of accepting the offer, by representatives from the County Council of Sher-
brooke and city of Sherbrooke, a resolution was passed disposing of the shares for this
amount,  The money from the sale was used in purchasing the County bonds, at a preminm
of sixteen per cent.

On November 2, 1886, the International Railway Company. was acquired by the Atlantic
and Northwest Railway Company, which in turn was leased to the Canadian Pacific Railway
Company in perpetuity. At the time of the acquisition of the line by the Atlantic and
Northwest Railway Company, the following gentlemen composed the directorate:

W. C. Van Horne, president; ‘I GG, Shaunghnessy, vice-president;  Sir Donald A, Smith,
K. C. M. G.¢ Sir Geo. Stephen, Bart; J. J. C. Abbott, R. B Augus, E B, Osler, Wm. Whyte,
Sandford Fleming, and J. Davidson, secretary; D, E. McFee, general manager.

This road now forms a link of the Canadian Pacific Railway short line between
Montreal and Halifax, with a large passenger and freight traffic,

HEREFORD RATLWAY.

For several years prior to work being commenced by the Hereford Railway Company,
Mr. Wm. Sawyer, ex-M. L. A, and others, speut money and time in trying to have a road
built from Cookshire through to the boundary line in Hereford. A few years before,
A. M. Shanley, civil engineer, attempted to survey a route, passing through Paquetteville.
He was mnot successful, and was obliged to give it up. At the time this was kept very
quiet, in order that the prospects for building the railway might not be iunjured, for the
promoters were men who were determined to succeed. If the road could not go one way
they were determined some feasible route should be found; and the excellent railway
that connects Cookshire, Sawyerville, and other places in Compton county with all th-
leading cities in the United States, speaks louder than words as to the foresight of those men.

In 1887, hy Act 50-51, Victoria, chap. 93, the * Hereford Branch Railway ™ was iucor-
porated. The petitioners and provisional directors were: John McIutosh, of Compton, merchant;
Wm. Sawyer, mercliant; Cyrus A. Bailey, farmer; Rufus H. Pope, farmer; Alden Learned,
inn-keeper, all of Eaton; F. Paquette, of Hereford, merchant, and George Van Dyke, of
McIndoe'’s Falls, N. H., lumberman. Mr. C. A. Bailey was appointed secretary-treasurer of the
Company. The line authorized to be constructed is described in the Act as a railway to connect
the Atlantic and Northwest Railway, now Canadian Pacific Raiiway, with the Boston, Concord
and Montreal Railway, or any extension thereof, or with any other railway extending from
some point in the United States northwards, and touching the boundary line of Canada on
the northerly boundary of either the States of New Hampshire or Vermont, at a point
within five miles from Hall's Stream. The capital stock of the Company was fixed at
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$300,000. This Act was amended by st Victoria, chap. 8t, and the name of the Company
was changed to the * Hereford Railway Company.” The capital stock was increased to
$500,000 (and by subsequent Act, 53 Victoria, chap. 72, the stock was raised to #800,000),
and bonding power was given for a sum not exceeding $15000 per mile, including the
mileage of an extension to the Quebee Central Railway. By this same Act power was also
given to the Company to purchase or lease the Quebee Central Railway, and the railway
of the Dominion Line Company, or either of them,

The mnecessary stock to secure incorporation was subscribed for in small amounts,
principally by farmers, mill men and merchants along the route of the proposed railway.
As the preliminary steps had now been taken, it was necessary to any further progress that
men with large capital should become interested. Largely through the efforts of Mr. W. B.
Ives (now Hon.), of Sherbrooke, the following men formed a syndicate to build and carry
on the Hereford railway : Hon. Frank Jones, Portsmouth, N. H.; Charles Sinclair,
Geo. Armstrong, J. P. Cook, of Boston; Hon. Irving W. Drew, Geo. Van Dyke, of
Lancaster; W. B. Ives, Sherbrooke; R. H. Pope, Cookshire; Wm. Sawyer, Sawyerville;
and E. C. Swett, Woonsocket, R. I. During the ecarly part of 1888, Mcessrs. Pope, Sawyer
and Armstrong sold out their interest to other members of the syndicatr, At this time
those who had locally subscribed for stock released their share to the above gentlemen,
giving as a bonus what had been paid on the stock, a very small amount in the whole, not
averaging $25 for each stock holder.

The first work on the railway was commenced December 26, 1887. During that
winter from one hundred to three hundred men were employed chopping out a right of
way, and piling up the cord word, for about twenty-five miles, between Cookshire and the
boundary line in Hereford. Early in the spring the contract for building the whole line
was let by the Company to Messrs. Shirley, Corbett and Brennan. During the summer
the work was pushed rapidly ahead, from one thousand to twelve hundred men being
employed.  Of these, eight hundred or nine hundred were foreigners, largely composed of
Italians. There were a few Swedes and Greeks.

Mr. Dovid Williams was chief engineer and superintendent of construction. Mr. W, H.
Learned, on whom fell all the respounsibility of the work, acted as purchasing agent and
paymaster, and later was general agent for the road until it was leased by the Maine Central
Railway. Mr. W. B. Ives was treasurer of the Company and had the work generally
under his supervision.

On September 20, 1888, the members of the firm who had the contract for construction,
Messrs. Shirley, Corbett and Brennan, absconded with $25.500, leaving more than this
amount due the laborers, farmers and merchants along the line. Tt took about two days
for the laboring men to realize that they had lost all their wages, and then a tumult arose.

Those hot tempered men from sunny Italy, strangers in this country, who kunew mnothing
of the laws, and could not understand the language of the people, worked themselves up
into a terrible state of excitement. They finally went so far as to commence destroying
property, throwing away quantities of small tools and pulling up a piece of the track. Their
actions and threats became so alarming that the people called on the warden of the County,
(who at that time was Mr. W. H. Learned) for protection. He, also fearing that the freuy:y
of the men might lead to their committing serious depredations, in conjunction with two
Justices of the Peace, asked for military protection from the commanding officer of the
District, Lieutenant-Colonel F. M. Pope, of Bury. Colonel Pope immediately ordered out
Cowpanies No. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 9 and 10 of the 58th Battalion, in all about two hundred men,
who were concentrated at Cookshire the following afternoon, together with the Cookshire
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troop of cavalry, The following day Companies No. 6, 7 and 8 were ordered out, to report
at  Hereford, These men patrolled the whole line until October 3, when the excitement
had so subsided that all danger was thought to be passed, and the men were ordered to
their homes The report of the commanding officer, Licutenant Colonel F. M. Pope, to the
Adjutant General, giving full particulars of the work of the men under his charge, will be
found in full in the military history of the County. ‘T'here is no doubt that by the timely
arrival of the volunteer militio, damage to property and perhaps loss of life, was avoided.
This whole expense, amounting to about $4,600, was paid by the Hereford Railway Company.

The Company at once re-hired as many of the men as they could, which was most of
them, and pushed the work forward to completion as rapidly as possible. It was a very
disagreeable fall and rained nearly every day, which added expense and retarded the work,
However, notwithstanding all these drawbacks, on January 6, 1889, the last rails were laid and
the line completed between Cookshire and the boundary line. Here they connected with
the Upper Coos Railway, which also gave connection to all points in the Eastern States,

The first shipment of freight was made by the Cookshire Mill Company, of several
car-loads of lumber, on January 17, 1889. During the summer of 1889 thirteen miles of
railway were built, from Cookshire to Dudswell Junction on the Quebec Central Railway,
and the spur to Lime Ridge, belonging to the Dominion Lime Company, also purchased and
the track put in good condition.

In the fall of 1889 the telegraph line was completed and passenger traing commenced
running regular trips.  Until leased to the Maine Central Railway the Upper Coos
Railway ran their trains over the ioad and transacted the business for the Hereford
Railway Company.,

On completion of the road a large sum was due in subsidies from the Quebec Provincial
Government.  They, however, withheld the same and paid all claims presented against the
estate of the absconding contractors, Messrs, Shirley, Corbett and Brennan. The result was
that a sum of $45,000 was deducted from the subsidies, as having been paid to the creditors.
The Company attempted to recover the amount from the Government, but the courts ruled
against them. Notwithstanding all these heavy losses the construction of the railway proved
to be a financial success.

The road was leased to the Maine Central Railway, by lease executed in Canada on
the July 22, 18go, and in Portland on August 28, in the same year. ‘I'he general terms
of the lease are that it 15 made for nine hundred and ninety nine years. ‘The lessee,
the Maine Central Railway, guarantees the payment of four per cent. on the stock of
$800,000, also upon the bonds, amounting to $800,000. In other words, they pay an annual
rental of 264,500, the #5600 being allowed for expenses of keeping up the corporation,

The officers of the Hereford Railway Company, at the present time, are as follows :
President, Hon. Frank Jones; secretary-treasurer, H. B. Brown, Q. C., Sherbrooke; directors,
Hon. W. B. Ives, Hon. I. W. Drew, C.A. Sinclair and George Van Dyke.




CHAPTER XIL
Towssuir or EaAToN.
Including History Town of Cookshire and Village of Sawyerville,

This tract of land is bounded north by Westbury, east by Newport, south by Clifton,
and west by Ascot. It contains 64,685 acres and 3 rods in superficies. The land is
uniform and generally of good quality. It is watered by the Eaton river and small tributary
streams, ‘I'he Eaton river is formed by two streams which water the townships of Ditton,
Newport and Auckland, and meet in Eaton, just above Cookshire; it then winds in a
northerly course into Westbury, where it falls into the St. Francis river,

T'his tract was constituted a township named Faton, December 4, 1800, and was in part
granted to Josiah Sawyer and his associates, viz.: Israel Bailey, Orsemus Bailey, Amos
Hawley, Ward Bailey (the younger), John Perry, John Cook, Royal Learned, Samuel Hugh,
John French, Levi French, Luther French, Timothy Bailey, Abner Osgoode, Walthan
Baldwin, Benjamin Bishop, Jesse Cooper, Abner Powers, Samuel Beech, Jabez Baldwin,
John Gordon, Charles Cutler, Royal Cutler, James Lucas, Philip Gordon, William McAllister,
Abel Bennet, George Kimpel, Calvin Rice, Charles Lathrop, Apthorp Caswell and Peter
Green Sawyer,

Captain Josiah Sawyer, from whom the village of Sawyerville takes its name, was in ail
likelihood the first settler in Eaton. We find in a book kept for public meetings in the
township of Newport from 1793 to 1814, that the said Sawyer and Edmund Heard, *“in the
year 1793, set out from Missiskoui Bay, on Lake Champlain, with provisious, tools, ete.,
through the woods, ninety miles from any inhabitants to the westward, and after traveling
and exploring the woods thirty-one days, arrived on a hill now called Pleasant Hill, in
Newport, where he and Sawyer began to make improvements, distant twenty-five miles from
any inhabitants to the south and seventy miles from the French settlements to the north.”
Sawyer did not remain at Pleasant Hill for any length of time, but took steps to secure the
grant of the township of Eaton, and moved to Sawyerville. *“In the year 1794 Sawyer
moved his family in,” the said Heard not bringing in his family until 1793.

In 1797 Messrs. Samuel Hugh, Isracl Bailey and Abner Powers moved into FEaton.
John French and his son, and Rufus Laberee, also came to Eaton the same year. Hugh
settled west of Sawyerville, but after a few years went west. Israel Bailey remained in
Sawyerville the first winter, but in 1798 settled at Cookshire on the farm now owned by
Col. J. H. Taylor. Abner Powers, after spending the first winter at Sawyerville, soon after
settled on the farm in Cookshire now owned by R. H. Pope, M.P.; this farm he exchanged
with Johm Pope for the Ezra Frizzle place at Sand Hill. John French also settled at
Cookshire on what is now known as the Hurd Place. Rufus Laberee settled between
Birchton and Eaton Coruner, on the farm now owned by Joseph Taylor. These men were
soon followed by John Cook (after whom Cookshire is named), Jesse Cooper, Levi French,
Luther French, Atner Osgoode, Orsemus Bailey, Ward Bailey and Ebenezer Learned.

These early settlers met with and overcame all the hardships which we may now hear

5
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the Scotch settlers of Lingwick tell about. ‘Their first homes were log houses, with no
conveniences, generaily one room, one window, and in many cases no floor. The bed or
beds, tables, chairs, etc., were all of home manufacture. Coupled with this was a scanty
larder. Distant from all mills, they were obliged to almost wholly depend on game and wild
roots for a supply of food.

In those days there were a few panthers; wolves were numerous; but the most destructive
were the bears. Mrs. Day says: ‘ Often large domestic animals, and sometimes colts in the
pasture, were killed by the bears; and breaking into enclosures, they would carry off their
living, struggling victims, clasped tightly in their arms as they walked away erect. Some
years since, a monster of this species came out of his hiding place in the wilderness, near
the township of Eaton, and for a length of time evaded all efforts to kill or take him while
he carried on his work of destruction. Traps were set for him and guus fired at him in
vain, as he was cunning enough to avoid the one, and his skin secmed impervious to the
other. His death, which was finally effected, was a matter of public rejoicing, as his
depredations had not been confined to one locality. Several balls were lodged in him before
he finally yielded, and on examination of the skin, the tanner found others imbedded in it,
over which the wounds had healed, showing that they must have been made some
time previously.”

The Government offered a large bounty on bears and wolves, which was the means in
a few years' time of exterminating these destructive animals. Wolves are now mnever secen
in these townships, but bears are occasionally found around the mountains where the
lumberman has not yet been heard. The early settlers were nearly all good hunters, while
some made hunting and trapping a business. Mr. Rufus Laberee was noted as being an
expert at this,

The first procos-verbal of a road,® in Eaton, was made by a surveyor named Whitcher,
from Three Rivers, brother of the late Charles Whitcher, of Sherbrooke. ‘This was in 1812,
being a continuation of the Craig Road (as it was then called), from the north line of
Dudswell to Canaan, Vt., passing through Cookshire, Eaton Corner, Sawyerville, Clifton and
Hereford. He laid out a road to Luther French’s mills, just above the junction of the North
river with the Eaton river, and commenced the Lennoxville road. He also laid out what was
termed a bridle path, being the present Maimn street of Cookshire, from ILearned's hotel to
the river, with the right to use gates. The family of John French was the only one living east of
the river at that time.

Up to the time of the building of the Grand Trunk Railway all marketing was done
either by boat or team to Three Rivers or Montreal. The Eaton and St. Fraucis rivers
gave the settlers good transportation for those days. The teaming was generally done by
the way of Stanstead, Georgeville, across Lake Memphremagog, through Bolton, and on.
The boats were sent down the St. Francis river to its junction with the St. Lawrence, and
there produce was transferred to larger boats for Montreal, Quebec, Three Rivers and other
places. The principal article exported in those days was pearl-ash, made from hardwood
ashes. This sold for about $12 :er one hundred pounds. Flour and other necessaries
were brought back in exchange. These journeys by boat were always dangerous, and
necessitated hard labor at places like Brompton Falls, where everything had to be carried
around on land in both directions. It was at this place that a most lamentable accident
took place whereby two Eaton men, named John French and John Hurd, were drowned.

Up to the year 1816 new settlers were continually arriving. In 1815 Bouchette says

* Some ot this information has been gleaned from a * History of Katon,” written in 1594, by Mr. C. S Lebourveau
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there was a population of six hundred. The late Alden Learned, of Learned Plain, has left
a written account of those early days, and he says: *The 6th of June, 1816, it commenced
to snow, with the wind from the north-west, and it snowed for three days, the weather as
cold as winter. lie leaves were all killed and nearly all the birds died. On account of the
cold summer and hard frosts for two or three years in succession, provisions of all kinds
were very high, flour selling from $15 to $18 per barrel. Many of the farms were left
vacant, and half of the settlers left the country.” It appears to have been very trying times
in those days, for even those who remained were on the point of leaving when things changed
for the better. Mr. Learned, continuing, says: * The spring of 1820 was very early, wheat
being sown in some places the r1oth of April, and planting all done by May 1.” He
thought it to be the warmest summer of his experience, and all crops grew wonderfully
and ripened early.

The soil of Eaton was very productive in the early days, and crops gave large returns.
Potatoes especially were prolific, yielding from three hundred to four hundred bushels to the
acre. A very popular drink in those days was potato whiskey, which was nearly as free as
water and looked upon as a nourishing drink. Two stills are known to have existed in the
town, one at Eaton Coruer and the other at Sand Hill. All kiuds of fruits were plentiful,
and not until about 1330 did the native apple begin to die out. The farmers then raised
their own flax and the wives and daughters made their own linen, which was used in
place of cotton.

In 1831 the township of Eaton was divided into two parishes for church purposes, by
a line through the sixth range. ‘The northern half was called St. Peter's, the southern part
St. Paul’'s. In the same year Bouchette gives the population as eight hundred and five.
This shows a gain of only two hundred and five in fifteen years. This was owing probably
to the failure of crops between 1816 and 1820, when there was such an exodus. In 1831
there was one school with an average attendance of fifty; also two or three private schools;
about nine thousand acres cleared; two Protestant churches, six saw mills, one tannery, one
distillery, and two taverns.

At the time of the formation of the British American Laud Company, in 1833, they
acquired large tracts of land in Katon, which they have since disposed of to a large extent.
They erccted the first bridge at Cookshire in 1834. There had been a bridge previous to
this time at a point below Lake's mills, known as French’s mill. “The bridge and mills had
been carried away about a year previously. This was caused by trying to divide the course
of the river and to give to another mill a high fall of water, near French's mill. They built
a canal, erected a mill, etc., and everything appeared to be working well. About this time
there was a freshet, aud the water gradually increased the width and depth of the canal,
until it made that the main course of the river. It washed away the new mill, and made
a cut of about fifty feet deep and over two hundred feet wide. The old mill and bridge
were left high and dry, with no chance of turning the river into its old channel. The best
water power in the township of Eaton was thus ruined. The bed of the river, where it used
to run, can now easily be traced. The abutments of the old bridge are still to be seemn.

Schools in the township of Eaton date back as far as 1810; however, the first school
records are dated April 23, 1842, and the school district then comprised the united
townships of Eaton, Newport, Ditton and Clinton. At this meeting there were present:
Lockhart Hall, chairman; Ezra Taylor, Luke Hurd, Eros Lebourveau, and Benj. Lebourveau.
On January 16, 1843, the following presented ihemselves for examination and were
accepted as teachers: Luvina Sawyer, Emily R. French, Adeline Cummings, Maria Alger,
and Ruth Alger. The following are the names of some of those who have been chairmen
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of the School Board: Lockhart R. Hall, Jos. B. Smith, S. A. Hurd, Hiram French, Luke
Chaddock, ‘I W. Hurd, H. H. Hill, Jonathan Jordan, A. W. Pope, Eros Lebourveau,
John L. French, John McNicol, Joseph Laberee, R. H. Wilford, Calvin Jordan, Henry Alger,
A. J. Lindsay, L. A. Osgood, C. R. Lindsay, J. R. Cunningham, and Benj. Farnsworth,
The secretary-treasurers have been: John Lebourveau, 1842-46; Moses Lebourveau, 1847-56;
Hiram French, 1856-70; E. A. Sawyer, 1870-71; E. S. Baker, 1871-93; H. H. Winslow, 1893-95.

There are at present eighteen elementary schools in the township, with an academy
at Cookshire, and a model school at Sawyerville. ‘T'he town of Cookshire is still part of the
town for school purposes, but steps have been taken for a separation for school as well
as muuicipal purposes. Sawyerville is no longer a part of Faton school district, having been
set off about 1892. Further particulars, in regard to schools in Cookshire, are to found with
the history of that town. T'he Board of School Commissioners for 1895 was composed as
follows: Benj. Farnsworth, chairman; Willis Jordan, Austin Williams, Wm. Barrie, and
John Picard; secretary-treasurer, W. S. Ward.

The municipal history of Eaton dates back to 1841, when district councils were first
formed. From then down to 1855 very little interest was taken in municipal affairs, but
on the coming into force of the new Municipal and Road Act of 1855, more particulars
are obtainable. On September 3, 1855, the first meeting of the Council, under the new
law, was held. At that meeting were present: C. A. Bailey, William Sawyer, Wm. Hodge,
William Learned, Tyler W. Hurd, and Caleb Jordon. At the next meeting we find Jonathan
Jordon as, also, one of the councillors. Rules for governing the Council were passed at the
first meeting, also Mr. C. A. Bailey chosen as mayor and Mr. John L. French as secretary-
treasurer. The past mayors have been: C. A. Bailey, Wm. Learned, Moses lLebourveau,
Wm. Sawyer, W. H. Learned, and Ezra Frizzle. During the term of office of W. H. Learned,
the town of Cookshire was incorporated as a separate municipality, when he and Councillor
W. W. Bailey resigned their membership in the Eaton Council. The valuation of taxable
property in the township is $499,045. The Council for 1895 was composed as follows:
Mayor, V. F. Hodge; and councillors, Kugene Smith, Thomas Johuston, E. D. Alger, Silas
Jenkins, H. S. Farnsworth, and R. Bridgette; secretary-treasurer, W. S. Ward.

In churches the township is well supplied. We give the history of each denomination
as complete as possible.

The Church of England in Eaton. In the year 1810 or 1812 the first mission was
established in Eaton, the minister appointed being the Rev. Jonathan Taylor. It has been gene-
rally understood that he was a Congregationalist, but by the following old records signed by
himself, it will be noticed he signs hir self Presbyterian minister. * John Stratton was buried
December 15, 1815. Buried by me, minister of the first Presbyterian congregation of Katon.”
The first baptism on record is: ‘“The 7th day of June, 1816. William Augustus, born 1807,
October 7; Mary Sturtevant, born September 22, 1809, and Elizabeth Shows, born March 22,
1810, children of Daniel Loveland and his wife Susana; baptized by me, Jonathan Taylor, minister
of the first Preshyterian church, Eaton.” He took up his residence in Cookshire, living in the
first frame house in the township, situated where Learned’s Hotel now stands. In 1816
Bishop Stewart visited the Eastern Townships, and through his influence Mr. Taylor was
brought into the communion of the Church of England. When Mr. Taylor first came to
Eaton, he was minister and school teacher, his time being divided between the two. He had
a salary of $200, paid in meat, stock aud grain. Rev. Mr. Taylor, when he joined the
Church of England, received a salary of £100 ($500), paid by the Society for the Propagation
of the Gospel. His congregation, composed of all denominations, followed him into the
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Church of England. In 1817 (some accounts say 1819), a wooden church was built in
Cookshire. This was the fourth church built in the Fastern Townships, and until the
building of St. Peter’s church, Sherbrooke, in 1823, the nearest church building was forty
miles distant. In 1826 another church was built at Eaton Corner, and Rev. Mr. Taylor was
to divide his time between the two. ‘T'he latter, however, was burnt in 1828 and never
rebuilt, his whole time being given to Cookshire.

The first marriage on record reads: ‘“‘In the year of Our Lord, 1828, on the 8th of
September, Wadley Leavet, farmer, and Mary Percival, of St. Paul’s parish, Eaton, spinster,
were united in marriage by bans. Married by me, minister of the Episcopal church, Rev.
Jonathan Taylor.” Previous to this time the people generally went to New Hampshire, a
few to Stanstead, to get married, and it is probable this is the first marriage Mr. Taylor
had authority to perform. Later on in the register, records are found dated back as far as
1816. These were those married in the States, who thus had their marriage made legal
here, according to an act of the Legislature.

In the memoirs of Bishop Mountain occasional mention is made of FEaton. Bishop
(then Archdeacon) Mountain visited the Fastern Townships in 1820, and attempted to reach
Eaton, but failed owing to lack of conveyance. His Lordship, however, visited Eaton in
1829. Mr. Slack, a half-pay officer of the navy, residing in Faton, aided Mr. Taylor in
doing good church work. In 18:5 Bishop Mountain passed through FEaton to Bury, which
was then mnewly settled by English immigrants from Norfolk. The Bishop directed
Mr. Taylor to give one Sunday in the month to the settlers of Bury.

In 1844 Rev. Jonathan Taylor's health declined so much that a curate was appointed.
Rev. Wm. Jones came in the early summer and stayed until the spring of 1845. One
marriage at which he officiated was that of the late Hon. John Henry Pope to Persis Maria
Bailey. Mr. Taylor's health continued to decline so that it was frequently necessary to
employ a lay reader to conduct the services. In 1849 the Rev. John Dalziel was permanently
appointed to succeed him in the mission he had so long held. In May, 1852, Mr. Taylor
died, aged sixty-nine years—a man beloved by old and young, whose life had been devoted
to the cause of Christ, the Church in which he labored being always held secondary to
the good he could do.

In 1850 the farm house belonging to Horace Fronch was purchased for a parsonage. In
1854 a piece of ground to make an addition to the c¢ld cemetery was given by Mr. Heber
Taylor, and consecrated some years later. In 1894, after the new cemetery had been opened,
this strip was purchased by the town of Cookshire for $500, with the intention of turning the
whole of the old cemetery into a park.

Rev. John Dalziel remained in Eaton until 1864, when he was succeeded on December 25
of that year by the Rev. Edward Cullen Parkin. In 1867 the wooden church, being very
old, was torn down and a new stone church begun, being opened for public worship on
September 25, 1869. The opening sermon was preached by Bishop Williams, of Quebec.
Owing to a debt on the building it was not consecrated until October 17, 1881. The first
marriage in this church was that of Hon. W. B. Ives, to Elizabeth, only daughter of Hon.
John Henry Pope.

On October 18, 1881, the church at Sand Hill was opened for divine service. In the
latter part of the year 1881 Mr. Parkin resigned, being appointed to the mission of Nicolet.
In February, 1882, the Rev. Dr. Roe, professor of Divinity of Bishops College, Lennoxville,
took up the work until the appointment of Mr. Arthur H. Judge, in July. In September
Mr. Judge was ordained deacon and appointed to the incumbency of Cookshire; being
ordained to the priesthood in St. Peter’s church, Cookshire, December g, 1883. During the
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incumbency of Mr. Judge, the parish made great progress. ‘T'he old rectory was sold, and
a new one built close to the church. Mr. Judge carried on missionary work outside the
beunds of his own parish. In addition to his regular parish work he ministered to a colony
of English and Swedes in Ditton, and a small church was partly built there, but the
country being found unsuitable for them, they all left for other parts and the work
necessarily discontinued.  Mr. Judge started services in Randboro and a handsome little church
was built there, and the foundation of a new mission, that of Newport, with two churches,
at Randboro and Island Brook, was laid. Mr. Judge and Mr. Bernard held services at
Scotstown ; a congregation was formed and a church was built.

The Bishops College missions of Sand Hill and Johnville were attached to the parish
of Eaton; and the rector, with his assistant, Mr. Thos. Lloyd, had the pastoral charge of
the townships of Katon and Newport, with five churches. In September, 1887, the Rev.
Alex. Hume Robertson, of Bishops College, replaced Mr. Lloyd as assistant to Mr. Judge.
On January 1, 1888, Mr. Judge left Cookshire for New York. ‘I'he township of Newport
was then detached from Katon and formed into a mnew mission with Mr. Robertson as
incumbent.  On  June 19, 1888, the Rev. W. G. Falconer succceded Mr. Judge as rector
of Eaton. Mr. Falconer resigned on account of ill health May 25, 1890.

On October 1, 1890, the Rev. Alex. H. Robertson became rector of FKaton. When the
church at Eaton Corner was burnt, in 1828, services there were given up. After an interval
of sixty-five years, Rev. Mr. Robertson, at the request of the church people in FEaton Corner,
agreed to hold a service there on Sunday afternoons. A congregation was organized. In
December, 1894, a building was purchased and fitted up as a mission chapel. It was dedicated
on October 3, 1895, by the Right Rev. Bishop Duun, under the name of St. Andrew’s Chapel.

Upon the death of Hon. J. H. Pope, a legacy of $j3000 was left to the church, the
interest of which is to augment the clergyman’s stipend.

Rev. Alex. H. Robertson, the present incumbent, was born in Glasgow, Scotland.
Came to Canada in 1864, and lived in Montreal, studied at McGill and took his divinity
course at Bishops College, Lennoxvillee He was ordained in 1887.

The EKaton Baptist Church was organized, December 15, 1822, with a membership of
thirteen, viz.: William Alger, Rodolphus Harvey, Gordon Percival, Joanna Alger, Sally
Heard, Edmund Alger, Simeon Alden, Nathaniel Currier, Hulda Alger, Mary Alden, Martha
Currier, Mary Mallory and Betsey Morse. Of the above one is still living, Gordon Percival,
who now is a resident of Spokane Falls; Wash., and is ninety-five years old. The right
hand of fellowship was given by FElder John Ide, a missionary from the Massachusetts
Missionary Society. In June, 1823, the membership had increased to twenty-five.

March 7, 1832, Amos Dodge was ordained and installed as pastor, which position he
held until October, 1833, when the Rev. Edward Mitchell was installed as pastor. In
November, 1841, the Rev. A. Gillies became the pastor and centinued as such until 1878,
when, on account of failing health, he was obliged to resign.

After the Rev. A. Gillies’ resignation, the church had two pastors, viz.: Rev. A. Burwash
and A. McNeil; also the help of the students, R. McKillop, W. J. McKay and Charles
Gould. In March, 1890, the Rev. A. C. Baker became pastor, which position he still holds.
During the seventy-three years since its organization, two hundred and sixty-four persons
have been received into fellowship; of whom one hundred and eight are now living as
residents, and non-resident members. The first church edifice was built by the united
efforts of the Baptists and Free Baptists of Eaton and Newport, near the residence of the
late Rev. A. Gillies, and was occupied by the Baptists and Free Bantists alternately. During
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this time the Rev. A. Gillies preached at the following out stations: Upper Newport, or what
is now termed Maple Leaf; Martinville and Birchton. The Free Baptist church comprised
Eaton and Newport, including what is now Bulwer. After a few years the Free Baptists
became weak and were not able to keep up regular preaching, when that part known as
Bulwer became identified in part with Moe's river.  After this the Baptists occupied the
church every Sabbath until the summer of 1889, when they thought it would be advisable
to have the church in a more central place. Accordingly it was decided to remove the old
church to Sawyerville, but upon more mature consideration they resolved to build anew,
which they did, and the present Baptist church at Sawyerville is the outcome of that decision.

Iu the year 1891 or 1892 the Free Baptists invited the Rev. A. C. Baker to preach to
them at Bulwer, which he did every alternate Sabbath in the afternoon, after about one year
of labor. The then members of the Free Baptist church decided to fall into line with the
regular Baptists, which they did, and were formally received; and the Rev. A. C. Baker
became the pastor of this new church. The meetings were continued until the spring of 1893,
when the church building was no more available for their use; they accordingly decided to
build a church of their own. The Eaton (or, as it is now called, the Sawyerville) Baptist
church offered to transfer their interest in the old church to the Bulwer church, who accepted
the offer.  The building was removed and is now completed; it was dedicated to the worship
of God, December 1, 1895. The regular Baptists have two churches, where preaching is
heard every Sabbath: Sawyerville, in the morning; Bulwer, in the evening; the Rev. A. C.
Baker officiating as pastor for both churches.

Methodism in KEaton. The first preaching services of any kind held in Eaton were in
1805. The minister came in from Vermont through Hereford, and was a Congregationalist.
In the couise of his visit he informed the settlers that a Methodist minister would likely
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